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l ~ h e  Editorial Viewpoint/by ~oro thy  Marr Robenon 

One of my leisure-time (ha!) pleasures is to scan other editors' 
output . . . not only genealogical journals but newsletters as well. A 
lot of good stuff is out t ch of it helphl. My problem is 
that I don't write down I read, and then a few weeks 
later -- it seldom fails -- pied something surfaces in the 
old brain and suddenly becomes a simply idea that needs 
passing along. Why-oh-why didn't I write down who wrote it? My 

dilemma then becomes: should I just ignore it or should I share it with my readers and hope its originator 
will forgive me for not acknowledging him or her. I've decided on the latter course, and, if I enrage 
someone, it will not be a unique experience for me. 

Someone somewhere wrote recently that it's a good practice when you're reading a census or a tax list 
to check 10 pages back and 10 pages beyond where you found your ancestor's name. That way you may 
run across some other relatives since most families moved together and settled together. The suggestion 
tied in with my experience in another way: in two separate lines I found that the census-taker had 
misspelled my family surnames, tacking an "s" on the end of Daniel and corrupting "Marr" into "Morrow." 
The two variations changed the Soundex code numbers, and if I hadn't kept turning the crank on the 
microfilm reader (mainly out of frustration), I might've thought my relatives had gone to Texas or 
Kalamazoo instead of remaining here in Tennessee where they were supposed to be. Most of my genea- 
logical finds have been that way: not by design but by accident. (Just don't have the smarts of some folks.) 

Dr. Lloyd Bockstruck, Dallas librarian and genealogist of note, recently stressed to the Genealogy Society 
of Southern Illinois the importance of having a good understanding of the laws that were in effect during 
the time frame you're researching. For instance, he noted that laws governing property tax varied from year 
to year. In some states, parents put land in their children's names to avoid paying taxes on it. (Bet you 
thought that was a 20th Century tax evasion ploy!) In Colonial Virgina, an infant could own land ... and in 
some colonies, a certain age made the resident exempt from paying taxes. It's also important to know the 
lingo of the day, too. Some of the words our ancestors used didn't mean what you think either. The term 
"trusty friend" usually referred to someone who was a relative outside the immediate blood line. "Loving 
son" or "trusty son" most often referred to a son-in-law. In trying to figure out the approximate age of 
your ancestors when they married, remember that under English common law it was legal for boys to 
marry at 14 and girls at 12. And just because your ancestors witnessed a legal document, don't assume they 
were 21. Witnesses on legal documents could be any age, Bockstruck pointed out. 

a 
Nowadays it seems that more and more folks are turning nouns into verbs. You hear it on television al- 
most contantly. So imagine my surprise when I came across this little gem in the Paris, Tenn., Weekly In- 
telligencer of 19 Feb 1874: "Gus Clayton and George E. Sims, gamblers, revolvered each other at Macon, 
Texas, recently. The former was mortally wounded." So perhaps was the English language! 

2% 
Thanks to volunteers from four local D.A.R. chapters, the Tennessee Genealogical Society's Library is 
now open every Saturday from 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. The helping hands are extended by the Watauga,Chief 
Piomingo, Chucalissa, and River City chapters. With TGS volunteers staffing the check-out desk during 
the same hours on Tuesdays and Thursdays, that makes the library open three days a week now. Every 
Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday. If you haven't visited our new location at the historic Davies Plantation, 
check it out . . . . soon! 
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ing Word to Townspeop 
n the Ear y 1800's & Later 

Opposed only by bucket brigades and rug-beaters, fires raged through a 
number of Tennessee towns in the early 1800's ... frequently consuming 
entire business sections with their closely spaced wooden structures and also 
eating up homes and their hrnishings. Newspaper accounts of these 
calamities provide numerous names and in some instances describe the 
location of stores and houses in such detail that readers can get a pretty fair 
idea of how the town was laid out. For instance, Murfkeesboro in Rutherford 
County was the scene of one such fire on 24 Feb 1814. Here's how it was 
reported in The Murfresboro Courier and reprinted in The Knoxville 

Register of 10 Mar 1 8 14: 

"About daylight on the morning of the 24th inst. a fire broke out in that part of Mr. Barfield's row of 
buildings on the northeast side of the public square in this town, occupied by Mr. J. M. Lewis as a tavern. 
All houses on the side of the square from the comer of the square and Main Street to Mr. J. D. Smith's 
nearly down to Lytle Street were entirely consumed. The loss to individuals was very great. Messrs. N. and 
J. M. Tilford's storehouse, Mr. Barfield's row of white buildings occupied by Mr. Lewis as a tavern and 
by Mr. B. Randolph, Mr. D. Wendell, and Mr. J. 6. Haskell, merchants, the new house of Mr. Henry 
occupied by Dr. J. Clopper as a store and dwelling, and Mr. J. D. Smith's house occupied by himself as a 
store and jewelry were entirely consumed. The whole loss ... is immense and will require the labour of many 
years to place this square of the town on the same footing of improvement to which it had just arrived." 

Nashville was hit by a blazing inferno just a month later. l;cle Clarion declared it the most destructive fire 
ever experienced in the Western country, and described it in the 15 Mar 18 14 issue in this manner: 

"On Friday night last about 10 o'clock, citizens of this town were alarmed by the cry offire! Proceeds from 
the hay-loft of William W. Cooke, Esq., near Mr. Woods' warehouse had gained such ascendancy and the 
buildings were so combustible that the utmost exertions of citizens could not save a large adjoining 
warehouse filled with consignments to Joseph Woods, Esq., commission merchant; the bindery, dwelling 
house, and bookstore of Mr. Duncan Robertson; the tavern house of Robert Rentfroe; the framed house 
of John Anderson, esq.; the house occupied by Ernest Benoit, baker; the shop of Messrs. E. and G. 
Hewlett, saddlers, above; the dwelling house of William W. Cooke, Esq.; the dwelling house occupied by 
Mr. S. V. Stout; the warehouse of Messrs. Read and Washington, army contractors, and their office; the 
shop and dwelling house of Mr. D. C. Snow, tin plate worker, below; the dwelling house of Joseph T. 
Ellison and his silversmith shop; the dwelling house of the editor of the Clarion and his printing office; the 
house lately occupied by William M. Wallace as a shoemaker's shop; the house occupied by Joseph 
Sumner, the property of Mr. John Young, the office of the Nashville Whig; the hatter's shop of Mr. 
Joshua Picher; the brick storehouse occupied by W. Tannehill, esq., above on the east side of Market 
Street and all the buildings on the same side opposite to the bank alley, making on the whole the most 
destructive fire ever experienced in the western country. No language can paint the distress of many of the 
sufFerers who were left without bread, meat, dishes or plates or a covering except the heavens. In the whole 
range of the fire, we are, however, gralified that no lives were lost. It is impossible at present to form any 
estimate of the immense loss sustained. Nearly half of the buildings that were in town are in ashes, and 
much fbmiture and other valuable property was lost to flames." 
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continued) 

Over the next few decades, the larger towns organized firefighters into what were called "fire companies". . . 
and while they succeeded in chechng numerous blazes and considerably reducing property damage, fires 
remained a serious threat. Memphis, for example, had several fire companies in place when it was hit by a 
major fire on 5 Jan 1859. One person was killed, and property damage was estimated in excess of 
$200,000. Older citizens said the fire covered a larger area than any previously burned in the city. The fire 
was discovered in a boarding house next to James Whitsitt's ten-pin alley by Police Officer Rose who 
slept in the nearby jail. Because the fire broke out about 3:30 a.m. -- "an hour when people usually sleep 
their soundest" -- three or four tenement houses were destroyed before the means of checking the fire was 
in complete operation. Making matters worse was a brisk breeze from the South that carried sparks and 
masses of fire to adjacent roofs as far as the Navy Yard and twice caught the cupola of the Exchange 
Building on fire. The Appeal said the flames were extinguished by the vigorous efforts of the fire com- 
panies which confined the conflagration to houses between Adam and Washington streets and the alley and 
Front Row. The paper also noted that Mayor R D. Baugh, City Register L. R ]Richards, and City 
Collector John Newsom were "conspicuous in rendering good service and keeping order." 

James Brewerton, a newcomer to the city, was killed instantly when struck by falling material from the 
House of Egan which fell into an alley where he was sitting on a pile of lumber. William Swann, who was 
inside the building when it fell, narrowly escaped. At Worsham House and four others in the vicinity, the 
boarders were said to have "left their beds in terror and frightened women shrieked for protection." Ten 
buildings were destroyed on Front Row including two owned by Judge Burke of Kentucky; one owned by 
K. J. B. L. Winn and insured for $1,000; six owned by John Trigg, whose $15,000 loss was partially 
offset by $10,000 in insurance. On Adams Street, 15 tenements were destroyed -- most of them three or 
four stories high and running clear back to the alley. The brick house of V. Bacigalupo (commonly known 
as Vincent) was left standing. Vincent, who operated a liquor saloon and restaurant in the upper floor and 
lived in the premises below, lost part of his stock and had some hrniture broken. Many fine knives and 
plated forks were stolen, and Vincent himself was injured by water. His loss was estimated at $500. 
Vincent was reported to have been so gratified by the fine work of the fire company that he offered a $100 
bonus to each fireman. The Appeal also reported: 

"The tenement south of Vincent's, occupied by Mrs. Griffin's bar and boarding house and Thomas 
Bilbow's variety store, was partly damaged by fire and flooded by water. Although the neighboring 
tenement was entirely destroyed, John F. Flaherty saved most of the furniture in his bar and boarding 
house, but Behr & Bro.'s clothing store stock was almost entirely destroyed. Mrs. Murray, who had one 
of the few boarding houses on the square without a bar, had only a moderate quantity of her goods saved. 
The vacant boarding house next to her, owned by Joseph Lenow, was destroyed. Also lost was the building 
housing a grocery run by Charles McLean, who had a fine stock and was doing an extensive business. He 
sustained a large loss and had only $200 insurance. Over his store was the office of cotton broker William 
Park, whose damage was estimated at $8,000. The next house at the comer of the alley 1 Inning from Front 
to Main was occupied by Sturgis & Son who lost grocery stock valued at $8,000. Over th, ir store was John 
D. Baugh & Co., cotton factors and commission merchants, who lost all their books a11d papers. In the 
same building, the shop of A. Gerrar, fancy boxmaker, also was destroyed. Forsyth & Jamieson lost a 
$30,000 stock of groceries, a quantity of jewelry, and many private papers of considerable value. Gibbs & 
Bryan, cotton factors in part of the upper portion of the building, lost everything and had no insurance. 
The tenement was the property of Jno. M. Lea of Nashville. 0. P. Newby, who kept a livery stable in the 
rear of the grocery, lost 10 buggies worth $150 each, and his horses were turned loose in the street." 
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FIRES (continued) 

Rose's lager bier saloon and small boarding house suffered a $700 loss, and Whitsitt's bar and bowling 
saloon, opened only three weeks earlier, were totally destroyed. Also lost were D. Durrer's bar and board- 
ing house along with $800 he had drawn from the bank the day before; OIBrien & Flannery's bar and 
boarding house in the same tenement; Mr. Nalty's boarding house; and Tucker's liquor saloon and res- 
taurant on Adams Street. D. Moriarty, saddler, had $6,000 worth of stock consumed, and little was saved 
from Gustave Miller's bar and boarding house. Next to Tucker's Exchange and fronting on Adams Street 
was Teufel's extensive boarding house and restaurant. The building was new as were the furniture, 
fixtures, and cooking apparatus bought only nine months before. He also had machinery for manufacture of 
mineral water. His loss was only partially covered by $6,500 in insurance. Next to Teufel's was a new 
house belonging to Michael Egan. As the wind blew the flames in the opposite direction, many women 
and children found rehge there. Mr. Hinkle, on watchfbl duty as a fireman, discovered that the west wall 
of Teufel's house was about to fall on Eagan's and he succeeded in clearing the place of human beings. 
Shortly before the wall fell, a considerable amount of fine marble work in the marble yard of Jno. White 
was said to have been "entirely overwhelmed." 

In mid-February 1874, a third of the business section of the town of Trenton was destroyed by a fire that 
started about nine o'clock in the evening. The Trenton ~azet te l  reported that flames were first seen issuing 
from the garret window of the Star drug store of Mr. J. 0. Burgess. "[It] rapidly extended south along the 
colonnade building until the entire block was consumed, burning up the News office, press, and stock. A. 
T. Levy's book store under the same roof shared the same fate. The fire then extended east to D.C. 
Senter's hardware store, then to the dry goods stores of Mr. Oppenheimer & Son and J. Ebert's. By 
this time, almost the entire male population of the town and vicinity had flocked to the terrible scene but 
seemed paralyzed by the grand and terrific spectacle and did but little to arrest the flames. Only a few 
seemed to work heroically or with judgment, every one striving to save his own property." 

With an alley separating Ebert's from C. F. Smith's stove store, Trenton business leaders hoped the fire's 
further spread might be arrested. The flames, however, soon leaped across the alley and consumed Smith's 
store with part of his stock. Cook & Rogers' wholesale candy factory, under the same roof, was also des- 
troyed. The Gazette eloquently described the setting in these words: 

"At this stage of the conflagration, the scene was grand and terrific beyond description. Goods which had 
been thrown in heaps in the street took fire and were consumed. So intense was the heat that no one could 
approach near enough to recover them. With a southerly wind prevailing, the flames soon leaped across 
Lexington Street and burned up Mr. Freed's store, then Mrs. McLean's and J. W. Tiner's shoe store, also 
the residence of Mrs. Doubleday and the shoe shop occupied by a colored man. These being all old wood 
tenements were soon consumed." 

Adjoining Tiner's shoe store was a brick block owned by W. E. Pybass and W. M. Hall which was 
occupied by Pybass' grocery and by William Baugh's drinking saloon, with the town hall above. 
Covered with tin, the building resisted the fire for some time but the heat was so great that it, too, 
succumbed to the hungry flames. The Gazette credited the townspeople's "superhuman efforts" with not 
allowing the fire to spread beyond this block, which was separated from the other buildings by an alley. 

The story was reprinted in the 19 Feb 1874 issue of The Paris Intelligencer, which is available on microfilm. 
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(continued) 

Arson also was suspected in a fire that destroyed 27 homes and two business squares in Bolivar (Hardeman 
County) on 12 Dec 1876, dealing residents a total $250,000 loss. i'he Bolivar Bulletin said it was believed 
that an incendiary torch was applied to the rear of Jake Osborne's saloon on the northwest corner of the 
town square about 1 o'clock Friday morning. "The town bell summoned citizens to the rescue," the paper 
reported, "and a large number promptly responded and worked to exhaustion to stay the ravages of the 
flames and to save all the perishable property possible." Within an hour, however, the fire had consumed 
Osborne's and Alvin Warren's saloons and "was wrapping within its withering folds" Neely & Fentress 
Harrington's wooden building occupied by T.A. Osborne's saddlery establishment and Gen. Neely's 
private railroad office. "So dry and combustible was the material -- due to no rain of any consequence in 
this section for two months -- that the structure soon yielded to the devouring elements," the Bulletin 
stated. "Nothing could be saved." Detailing the resulting damage, the paper continued: 

"The fire passed onward and Mrs. James Pybass' millinery store was the next victim. Then the large 
mercantile establishment of Adams, Wellons & Company. Clerk George Adams, who was sleeping in the 
store, was unable to open the safe. The postoffice, which was in front of the store, was consumed with all 
its contents, including last week's Bulletin. Postmaster Torn Joyner secured a drawer of stamps and 
stamped envelopes. In the adjoining building which housed the new large and handsome drug store of Dr. 
E. D. Moore, clerk Wade Harvey -- who was sleeping in the store - managed to escape. The cotton 
storehouse occupied by sey & Harris is in ruins. Over the drug store, the law offices of Gen. 9. J. 
Dupuy and Frank Williams and the dental office of Dr. J. W. Nelson surrendered to the flames as did M. 
D. RlcNeely's dry goods store. The fire reached the comer where Kuhn Bro. kept a large and rare 
assortment of dry goods and, in the rear, the large jewelry establishment of R L. Lightfoot 8i Co. The fire 
swept on and devoured in turn the offices of Dr. P. T. Jones, attorney C. A. Miller, and Dr. J. J. Neely." 

Meanwhile, an immense volume of sparks floated over and fired the stores on the opposite side. Some 
floated further off and lodged on the roof of the old Pitser Miller residence then owned by Mrs. 
McKenney, burning the house and adjoining buildings including the groceries of 3. W. Tate and Coates 
& Lewis, John Johnson's stove and tin store, Dr. A. A. Coleman's office and building, part of which was 
used by Z. Stevens as a jewelry store. The large brick store of Harkins & Durrett at the corner was 
threatened, but the building being fireproof, according to llhe Bulletin, escaped damage. At the rear of the 
store, a large lot of cotton in which Mr. Willoughby Dorion owned a substantial interest, was badly 
damaged. The timely efforts of friends was credited with saving the residents of Mrs. Thomas R Smith 
and Pitser Miller, but the Old Methodist Church building owned by Mr. James Pankey was destroyed. 
The Bulletin conc1uded:"Within a few hours that morning, two entire squares presented a saddening sight - 
blackened walls, tall-shooting chimneys, and smouldering debris. Citizens worked mahl ly  to stop the 
progress of the flames but in vain as there were no fire extinguishing facilities in town." 

The Knoxville Daily Chronicle of March 15, 1877, reported that Pulaski in Giles County was the scene of 
a "most destructive conflagration" the previous Sunday night which laid two hotel buildings (the Jackson 
and the Alamo) in ashes. The fire was said to have originated in the kitchen of the Alamo hotel. According 
to a story in The Nashville American, Pulaski had been hit by so many fires in the 12-year interval since the 
war that every building on the square except for two small one-story frames had been replaced. About the 
same time that Pulaslu was suffering its fire loss, Lebanon in Wilson County was hit by "a lively blaze" that 
was called the most destructive in the town's history up to that point. A whole block was totally destroyed 
including the Second National Bank and nine or ten business houses. Both towns were without fire engines 
or any kind of fire-fighting apparatus, according to the Knoxville paper. 

"ANSEARCHIN' " NEWS, Spring 1997 



FIRE (continued) 

Before the year was out, Knoxville itself would be hit by fire. The blaze broke out at 11:30 a.m. on August 
10 in a small frame building on the west side of Gay Street that was owned by John S. Van Gilden and 
occupied by Peter Ricardi's confectionary shop in one end and by H. Bradow's tailor shop in the other. 
Bradow had a fire to keep his irons hot, and the blaze originated from a defective flue. Within a few 
minutes, flames had consumed the small building and spread to the adjoining structure on the corner. Fire 
Company #3, which only a few minutes before had been practicing on Market Square and had just put up 
its engine, promptly rolled its steamer to the cistern on the square. For some cause, however, the steam 
could not be raised for some 20 minutes. Once the firemen got the apparatus working and the water 
directed to the right place, the destructive flames were quenched in a short time. The Whig & Chronicle 
reported: 

"The corner building, owned by k B. Johnson, was part wood and part brick. The first floor of the wooden 
part was occupied by A. Lobenstein's clothing store and Joseph Wood's jewelry shop, and two families 
[unidentified in the paper] lived in the upper story. The brick part of the building, back on Asylum Street, 
was considerably damaged by fire. The lower floor was occupied by "Bawly" O'Dell's saloon, and the 
upper story by Justice Brooks and W. F. Yardley, Esq., as offices." 

With tongue in cheek, the paper commented: "Friends were very accommodating in assisting Bawly in 
getting out the 'red licker' and many of them were so afraid of glass vessels breaking that they took pains to 
empty a good lot of it into 'leathern jugs' before taking it out." The editor also took the occasion to state 
that Knoxville was badly in need of increased facilities for putting out fires, stressing the need for some 
means of systematizing operations at the fires and keeping down "crowding around, confusion, and 
uproar." The greatest need, he stressed, was for a system of waterworks by which water could be more 
easily obtained. 

Gallatin was visited by a $20,000 fire in mid-April 1880, the MurJi.eesboro Free Press reported. The blaze 
originated in the grocery store of T. J. Nicholson about 3:30 on a Tuesday morning. The fire was believed 
to have been the work of an incendiary who apparently robbed the building first and then ignited it. 

On May 3, 1883, fire swept through the business section of Tullahoma in Coffee County, leaving only four 
brick stores untouched. The entire north side of Lincoln Street from Capt. J. W. Harton's brick store to 
the railroad was said to have been wrapped in flames. The blaze started in a building owned by Dr. 
William Farris which was occupied by the Rutledge Bros. merchandise store on the first floor and by the 
Masonic Hall on the second. When the fire reached the Maynard store on Atlantic Street, a coal oil tank 
exploded shooting flames several hundred feet in the air and this, followed by the explosion of gun 
powder, kept residents on edge. Among structures destroyed: the railroad freight depot, the Misses 
Baillett's millinery shop, S. J. McLemore's grocery, 6. A. Hawkins' grocery, Riley Wilson's 
merchandise store, R H. Mitchell's saloon, Bomar's saloon, and buildings owned by Mayor J. 6. 
Aydelott and I. F. Maynard. Some buildings on the south side of Lincoln Street caught on fire, but men 
stationed on the roofs with buckets of water held it in check. In less than two weeks, the mayor and 
alderman enacted a law creating a fire district and forbidding the erection of any wooden structures within 
its boundaries. 

"ANSEARCHIN' " NEWS, Spring 1997 



Carroll County Wills 1822-32 
(Abstracted from microfilm at MemphisIShelby County Public Library; film produced by Tennessee 
State Library & Archives, Nashville. Unless stated othenvise, all wills in this period were registered by 
County Court Clerk Edward Gwin.) 

P,iiGEl 
- Will dated 4 Feb 1822. Witnessed by Samuel 6. Sayle, 
n. Proved in county court September 1822 term. Executor not 

named. 
Wife - Purity Cox 
Sons - William, James 
Daughters - Sally Cox, Sally Culp, Rhoda Barnhart 
Son-in-law - Robert Culp 
Niece - Nancy McMakin 

- Will dated 11 Mar 1824. Witnessed by Enoch Enochs, 
Isaac Harlin, Clark Woodstrain. Proved in county court June 1824 term. 

Executors - wife and Isaac Harlin. 
Wife - Hannah 
Children - mentioned but not named 

PAGES 2-3 

Will dated 11 Sep 1823. Witnessed by John Dougherty, Levy Charlton, Delphia Charlton. Proved in 
county court September 1824 term. Executors - sons Henry Gee, David Gee 

Wife - Agness Gee 
Children - Polly Malugins, Susannah Gee, Ervin Gee, Edmond Gee, Thomas Gee, Henry Gee, 

Betsey Seals, David Gee, Nancey Camble 

PAGES 3-5 

- Will dated 25 Nov 1824. Witnessed by William L. Butler, Thomas Finley. Proved in county 
court March 1825 session. Executors - son Leonard &!@kc, Thomas Hamilton. 

Wife - Elizabeth 
Children - Pemely, Leonard, William, Berry, Niecy (daughter), Edward, Sally, and Ely (last three designated as 

youngest children) 

PAGE6 
- Will dated 30 May 1822. Witnessed by Elias A. Calvert, Elvia Morse. Proved county court June 

1825 term. Executors - son Edward Busey, Henry Wheeler. 
Wife - Lucey 
Children - Edward Busey, Sally Crow, Zilpha Bethell, Nancy Wheeler, Lucy Kirkwood, Fanny Gilbert 
Granddaughter - Agnes Lamberson 

pAGEs6-7 

Will dated 28 May 1825. Witnessed by Robert Amour, Jackson White, John 
Pinckley. Proved in county court September 1825 term. Executors - wife, Levi McWhorter 

Wife - Elizabeth 
Sons - Bartholemew, Bryan, Jackson, Solomon, William 
Daughters - Elizabeth, Marian 

'~umame is also spelled "Sooter" in some places in the will. 
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CARROLL COUNTY WILLS (continued) 

PAGE 7 

- Will dated 17 Oct 1825. Witnessed by Richard Green, 
Bradford Edward, Hiram Edward. Proved county court December 1825 term. 
Executor - son William Martin. 

Wife - Nancy 
Children - Polly Jones, Jane Green, William Martin, Jacob Martin, 

Deliatha Martin, Thomas Martin, youngest son James 
Martin 

- Will dated 15 Nov 1826. Witnessed by Robert 

Nicholson, Jopee Walker, Amos Dildy. Date of probate not shown. Executors - wife 
Jane and Thompson Enochs 

Wife -Jane 
Heirs (relationship not stated) - Miles J. , Thomas T., and Marjory Enochs 
Negro girl - Mariah 

PAGES 8-9 
- Will dated 14 Jan 1827. Witnessed by Mathias Bigham, S. Y. Bigham. Proved in county court 21 

Jan 1827. William Patton, Justice of the Peace. Executors -- Elisha Ladd, William H. Bigham 
Wife -- Sarah Ladd 
Son -- Elijah Ladd 
Daughter -- Martha 
Others mentioned (relationship not stated) -- Susannah Isom, Nancy Cammel, David Ladd, 

Edward B. Ladd 
Negro man - Lewis 
Negro girls -- Mary Ann, Mowning, Susannah 

. l ? k x z B  
- Will dated 15 May 1827. Witnessed by R Green Allin, John M. Hammett. Date of probate not 

shown. Executor -- son Levi 
Wife -- Mary 
Children -- Isaac Allin, Levi Allin, John Allin, Panny Allin, Thomas Allin, Elizabeth Allin, Polly Allin, 

Nancy Allin, Hannah Allin, Purity Allin, Sary Allin, Dolly Harris Allin. 

PAGES 11-12 
Will dated 16 Oct 1827. Witnessed by Richard Green, Loyd Rowland. Date of probate not shown. 

Executors -- wife Elizabeth and son Needham 
Wife -- Elizabeth 
Children -- Needham Green, Patty Allin, Polly Sipes (?), Minty Rodgers, Rowland Green, Elizabeth Cox, Aron 

Green, Thomas Green, Sarah Green, Edy Pickler, Nancy Green, Susannah Green 
Negroes -- Sena, Tony, Ned, Jack, Bob, Wilson 

w 
- Noncupative will made ca. 25 Jul 1827, a few days before she died. Proved in Carroll 

County open court during December 1827 term by James Tarpley and Elizabeth Hicks. 
Heir -- Malinda Christian, also known as Malinda Carmack, who was raised from childhood by Liddy 

2 ~ i v e n  name is listed as "Lydia" in will book index 
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10 
(continued) 

l?,uZLH 
- Will dated 19 Aug 1828. Witnessed by John C. Smith, Thomas Hamilton. Date of probate not 

stated. Executors: eldest son William and George Bagby. 
Wife -- Lucy H. Bagby 
Daughter -- Harriett Gilliam 
Other children -- William H. Bagby, George 8. Bagby, Ballard C. Bagby, Mary L. Bagby, 
Thomas H. Bagby, Daniel L. Bagby 
Negro girl -- Jenncy 
Negro man -- Wilson 

- Will dated 20 Sep 1827. Witnessed by Robert Nicholson, Samuel Benton. Proved in county 
court December 1828 term. . Executors -- wife Ann, sons Samuel anci Wilson Nesbitt. 

Wife -- Ann 
Sons -- Samuel J. Nesbitt, Wilson Nesbitt, twin sons Robert and Nathan Nesbitt 
Other children -- Benjamin H. Nesbitt, Sarah P. Nesbitt, Angelina Nesbitt, John Nesbitt, 
William 6. Nesbitt, Thomas J. Nesbitt 

Will dated 12 Jan 1829. Witnessed by Elijah Wheelis, Abram White. Proved in county court March 
1829 term. Executors -- sons Robert Baker, James Baker, and son-in-law John Simmons 

Wife -- Mary Baker 
Sons -- Thomas C. Baker, John Baker, Robert Baker, Porter Baker, James Baker 
Daughters -- Happy Baker (unmarried), married daughters not listed 

- Will dated 16 Mar 1829. Witnessed by John J. Burrow, Banks M. Burrow. Proved in county 
court December 1829 term. Recorded 28 Jan 1830. Clk. Executor -- son Banks M. Burrow 

Wife - Not mentioned 
Sons - Ishmael Burrow, James Burrow, Sterling Burrow, Ephraim Burrow, Phillip Burrow, 

Banks M. Burrow 
Son-in-law - Robert Wood 
Daughters - Patsey Cobb, Polly Burrow 
Grandchildren - Frances Wood's four children (not named) 

PAGES 19-20 
-- Will dated 22 Sep 1830. Witnessed by John Weathers, H. B. Lawrence. 

Proved in county court December 1830 term. Recorded 19 Dec 1830. Executor John Davis. 
Wife -- Nancey 
Sons -- Thomas M ' C o n U  of Hickman Co., Ky., Archibald M'Connel 
Daughters -- Pheba Davis, Mary Brown 
sons-in-law -- John Davis who married my daughter, Pheba; and Isaac Brown who married daughter Mary 

-- Will dated 1 Oct 1830. Witnessed by William Stacey, Polly Stacey. Proved in county court 
March 183 1 term. Recorded 9 June 183 1. Executors - John Johnson, Amos Joiner, Sr. 

Wife -- Ruthey 
Son -- John Gaston 
Daughters -- Ibby Ann, Polly, Caroline 
Refers to father living in Dickson County, but does not name him. 
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(continued 

PAGES 22-23 
--Will dated 16 Jul 1831. Witnessed by R L.W. Hogg, 
oved in county court September 183 1 term. Securities: 

Barrie Gillispie, Samuel Benton. Recorded 25 Oct 183 1. Executors - father Pleasant 
Henderson, brothers Tippo Saib Henderson & Mark M. Henderson, and friend, James 
H. Gee 

Wife - deceased, his parents to be guardians of hls children 
Daughter -- Margaret Henderson 
Sons -- James Martin, Pleasant, William Henry Frederick, and Marion (youngest son) 
Stepdaughter -- Sarah Ann Stone 
Negroes - Andrew and wife Betty and their children; boy - Henry; family Negroes Lewis and George in title of 

Alexander Henderson 

w 
- Will dated 27 Feb 1826. Witnessed by Robert Wilson, Thomas Latimere. Proved in county 

court September 1831 term. Recorded 9 Feb 1832. Executors - James Latimere, Thomas Hamilton. 
Wife -- Jane 
Son --John 
Grandchildren -- Children of Jacob and Betsy McKee, deceased (Betsy was his deceased daughter); and grandson, 

Thomas Hamilton, living with him when will was written 

w 
- Will dated 12 Nov 183 1. Witnessed by C. M. Hodge, Louis Huddleston, Burrell Robertson. 

Proved in county court December 183 1 term. Recorded 10 Feb 1832. Executors - brother John Woods, nephew L. (Levi) S. 
Woods, nephew W.W. Herron. 

Wife -- Nancy 
Brother -- John Woods, Oliver Woods 
Brothers-in-law -- Thomas Black, John Holmes 
Nephews -- John Woods' son William Woods, John Holmes' son William Holmes, Samuel Black's son William 

Black, William W. Herron 
Nieces -- L.S. Woods' daughter Nancy Woods (L.S. Woods appears to be John Woods' son), Dysant Woods' daugh- 

ter Nancy Rachel Woods, John Woods' daughter Margaret Woods 
Sister -- Martha 
Others mentioned but relationship not indicated -- Nancy Herron, wife of John Herron; John Steel 
who married Nelly Black; Hervy Woods 

PAGE30 
Will dated 18 Aug 1829. Witnessed by John Holmes, Green Utly. Proved in county court March 

1832 term. Registered 26 Jul1832. Executors - Joseph Cook, John Holmes 
Wife -- Ann 
Youngest son -- Joseph Cook 
Negro man -- Ben 

PAGES 3 1-32 
- Will dated 18 Feb 1830. Witnessed by James Barker, George Barker. Proved in county 

court March 1832 term. Recorded 26 Jul 1832. Executor - James Barker 
Brother-in-law - James Barker 
Uncle -- John Barker in Caswell Co., N.C. 
Niece --Jane Barker. 
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FROM HERE IN THERE 
Mentions of Tennesseeans 

-In Our Exchanges- 

MEmHIAN Eli Driver and his fam- 
ily are mentioned in an 1854 Madison 
Co., Ala., chancery court record ab- 
stracted in Valley Leaves, Vol. 3 1, No. 
1. The record, dated 4 Nov 1854, 
shows Eli died in September 185 1. He 
left a widow, Julia S. Driver, and four 
children, Elizabeth (wife of Wm. R 
Hunt of Mississippi, who was then 
residing with her parents in Mem- 
phis), Mary S. 15, William 12, and 
Julia M. 7. 

2r 
STILL ANOTHER Memphian, Mrs. 
M. Id Patrick, is buried in Cahaba's 
New Cemetery near Orrville, Ala- 
bama. The Central Alabama Genea- 
logical Society quarterly (Vol. 22, No. 
2) reports that many refugees came to 
Cahaba during the Civil War because 
their homes were in the path of 
military action. Mrs. Patrick is believ- 
ed to have been one such refugee. + 
THIRTY-THREE former Tennesse- 
ans were among Missouri veterans 
examined by Dr. George W. Taylor 
for increased pensions in the years 
from 1901 to 1904, according to the 
Missouri State Genealogical As- 
sociation Journal (Vol. XVI, No. 3). 
Most of the men were Civil War 
veterans. Tennessee-born veterans liv- 
ing in Missouri at the time of their 
examination were: John Wood, 63, 
and James Wood, 60, both of Gaines- 
ville, Mo., and Thos. J. Mallonee, 58, 
Pontiac, Mo., all three born in Wash- 
ington Co., Tenn.; John Hutchinson, 
55, Isabella, Mo., born in Grainger 
Co., Tenn.; John H. Harris, 55, Swe- 
den, Mo., born in Roane Co., Tenn.; 
John Walker, 62, Vera Cruz, Mo., 
born in Campbell Co., Tenn.; Stokely 
R Edmison, 62, Sharp, Mo., born in 
Jackson Co., Tenn.; Wiley Ellison, 
58, Bakersfield, Mo., born in Clai- 
borne Co., Tenn.; Virgil L. Johnson, 
56, Ava, Mo., born in Dyer Co., 

Tenn.; Hezekiah J. Inman, 73, 
Roosevelt, Mo., born in Lincoln Co., 
Tenn.; James L Holt, 69, Theodosia, 
Mo., born in Rutherford Co., Tenn.; 
James E. Bunyard, 57, Smallette, 
Mo., James P. Marritt, 58, Longrun, 
Mo., and Samuel A. Farmer, 58, 
Gainesville, Mo., all three born in 
Bradley Co., Tern.; Jesse Herd, 58, 
Dugginsville, Mo., born in DeKalb 
Co., Tenn.; James W. Russell, 53, 
Toccoa, Mo., and Isham D. Grimsley, 
63, Bakersfield, Mo., both born in 
Tennessee; Elisha H. Wicker, 65, Ba- 
kersfield, Mo., born in Marshall Co., 
Tenn.; John Heard, 64, Vera Cruz, 
Mo., Josiah H. Elliott, 67, Sweden, 
Mo., and James M. Robertson, Ava., 
Mo., all three born in Marion Co., 
Tenn.; Janes D. Smallwood, 59, Om- 
ba, Mo., born in Polk Co., Tenn.; 
William Hendricks, 66, Smallette, 
Mo., born in East Tennessee; Alfred 
S. Beard, 61, Bakersfield, Mo., born 
in Jonesborough, Tenn.; William 
Hitchcock, 59, Girdner, Mo., and 
John M. Lewis, 69, Smallett, Mo., 
both born in White Co., Tenn.; Rich- 
ard M. Dobbs, 64, Dora, Mo., born in 
Bedford Co., Tern.; Newton Dobbs, 
52, Blanche, Mo., born in Bradford (?) 
Co., Tenn.; and Isaac B. Hoggatt, 58, 
Moody, Mo., born in Jefferson Co., 
Tenn. Also examined were the follow- 
ing men from Mountain Home, Ark.: 
William P. Shelly, 72, born in Carter 
Co., Tenn.; John 6 .  Deatherage, 62, 
born in Bledsoe Co., Tenn.; William 
A. Studdard, 58, born in McMim 
Co., Tenn.; and Charles R Gower, 
64, born in Te~eSSee. 

2r 
PIONEER LIFE in Lawrence Co., 
Tenn., is described in the family quar- 
terly called The Fountain . . . Welch- 
Welsh- Walsh (Vol. 13, No. 4). George 
K Welch of Navasota, Tex., was born 
near West Point, Tenn., on 11 May 
1843, the son of John L. and Rachel 
Archer Welch. His father, born in 
South Carolina in 1800, came with his 
parents to Tennessee in about 1804 
and settled on Chisholm Fork. He 
often told about 'clearing a patch,' 
building a cabin, marrying at 18, and 
taking his wife on his horse behind 

him (she with her bed and clothing in 
her lap) and going to housekeeping. 
Their furniture consisted of items he 
made. A dressed 'possum skin 
stretched over a hoop with small holes 
punched in it answered very well for a 
cornmeal sifter. James was killed by a 
horse at age 75. George volunteered 
for service in the Confederacy and was 
in battles from Shlloh to Appomattox. 
He was never sick, never missed a 
scrap, and never received a scratch. He 
returned home in May 1865, attended 
school at Lawrenceburg, and served as 
deputy county clerk under S. A. 
Carrell. George married Maggie E. 
Shannon, daughter of Gazaway and 
Jane Shannon. They later moved to 
Texas. 

c% 
THE BIRTa of Grove Sharp in 
North Carolina in 1763 marks the 
seventh generation of Sharps to be born 
in America. In 1781 Grove married 
Mary Fulghum in Wayne Co., N. C., 
and some time between 1820 and 1830 
they moved to McNairy Co., Tenn. 
Two of their sons, John Arthur Sharp 
(born in 1804) and Henry Raiford 
Sharp (born in 1809) purchased land in 
Corinth, Miss., in 1838 and later in the 
vicinity of Iuka in Tishomingo Co., 
Miss. The family's story is told in 
Chronicles & Epitaphs (Vol. 1, Issue 
3), published by the Tishomingo 
County Historical & Genealogical 
Society, Iuka. 

&- 
THREE TENNESSEANS turn up in a 
story about the late San Angelo, Tex., 
physician, Dr. Thomas Peter Early, 
which ran in Stalkin' Kin, Vol. XXIV, 
No. 2, published by the San Angelo 
Genealogical and Historical Society. It 
seems that Dr. Early's wife, Mary 
Scott Redding, was the daughter of 
William Redding of Nashville and 
Margaret Elizabeth Williamson, who 
was born 21 Oct 1853 in Tennessee. 
Mary Scott married Dr. Early in 
Bastrop Co., Tex., on 19 Jan 1871. 
They had two daughters, Sconie N. 
and Edgar Poe Early, and two sons, 
William F. and Thomas P. Early. C3 
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Bio Information On Framers of State's Second 
Constitution Provided by 1834 Newspaper 

In its issue of 27 Aug 1834, The Nashville Whig ran a list of the men who participated 
in Tennessee's second Constitutional Convention, saying the list was "politely furnished" 
at its request with facts relating to the men's birthplaces, ages, th,e year those who were 

1 not native citizens emigrated to the state, and their occupations. Thnty-three of the men were farmers (reflecting the 
major occupation of the day), 14 were lawyers, five merchants, three medical doctors, and two ministers. 

-W. [William] B. Carter (President) - Resident of Carter Co., born 21 Oct 1791 at the place where he now resides. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Robert Allen - Resident of Smith Co., born 19 June 1778 in Cumberland Co., Pa., emigrated to Virginia in infancy and to 
Tennessee in 1797. Occupation: merchant and farmer. 
-Hugh C. Armstrong - Resident of Overton Co., born 4 Jan 1794 in Swry Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1800. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Adam R Alexander - Resident of Shelby Co., born 15 Nov 1788 in Washington Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1791. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Richard Bradshaw - Resident of Jefferson Co., born 15 Jan 1788 in Greene Co., then lived in North Carolina, now 
Jefferson Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-Robert M. Burton - Resident of Wilson Co., born 20 Nov 1800 in Granville Co., N.C., educated at Chapel Hill, N.C., 
emigrated to Tennessee in 1823. Occupation: lawyer. 
-Willie Blount - Resident of Montgomery Co., born 18 Apr 1769 in Pitt Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1791. 
Formerly judge and afterwards governor of Tennessee. Occupation: farmer. 
-Newton Cannon - Resident of Williamson Co., born 22 May 1781 in Guilford Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1799. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-William 6. Childress - Resident of Williamson Co., born 3 1 Mar 1798 in North Carolina, emigrated to Tennessee in 1807. 
Occupation: lawyer. 
-Terry H. Cahal - Resident of Maury Co., born 25 Dec 1790 in Louisa Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1814. 
Occupation: lawyer. 
-Mach Cross - Resident of McNairy County, born 3 1 Mar 1803 in Overton Co. Occupation: lawyer. 
-Burchett Douglass - Resident of Wilson Co., born 6 Oct 1793 in Sumner Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-James Pulton - Resident of Lincoln Co., born 18 Dec 1797 in Washington Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1819. 
Occupation: lawyer. 
-James L Green - Resident of Blount Co., born in Prince Edward Co., Va., in 1781, emigrated to Tennessee in October 1803. 
Occupation: farmer and merchant 2 

-James Gray - Resident of Stewart Co., born 6 Nov 1788 in Montgomeq Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1809. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Callaway Hodges - Resident of Jefferson Co., born in Greene Co., Tenn., on 11 Oct 1784. Occupation: farmer. 
-Isaac Hill - Resident of Warren Co., born 20 Dec 1797 in Edgecomb Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1805, 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Adam Huntsman - Resident of Madison Co., born 11 Feb 1786 in Charlotte Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1809. 
Occupation: lawyer. 
-West H. Humphreys - Resident of Fayette Co., born in Montgomery Co. on 26 Aug 1806. Occupation: lawyer. 
-Nelson L Hess - Resident of Gibson Co., born 29 Mar 1795 in Madison Co., Ky., emigrated to Tennessee in March 1804. 
Occupation: doctor of medicine and minister of Cumberland Presbyterian Church. 
-John Kelly - Resident of Marion Co., born 2 Jun 1779 in Greenbrier Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1781. Occupation: 
farmer. 

The Tennessee Gazetteer, which carried a list of men who drew up the state constitution, did not include James Gray of Stewart. It listed Robert L. Cobbs of 
Maury County and Bolling Gordon, neither of whom was mentioned in The Whig. 

2~ennessee Gazetteer lists Green as being &om Rome County 
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CONSTITUTION (continued) 

-Andrew A. Kincannon - Resident of Lincoln Co., born 1 Dec 1797 in Suny Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1818. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Joseph Kincaid - Resident of Bedford Co., born 5 May 1794 in Madison Co., Ky., emigrated to Tennessee in 1818. 
Occupation: doctor of medicine. 
-Peter Kendall - Resident of Henry Co., born 29 July 1778 in Montgomery Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1804. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Bradley Kimbrough - Resident of Monroe Co., born 3 Nov 1799 in Jefferson Co., Tenn. Occupation: lawyer, more recently 
minister in the Baptist Church. 
-William Ledbetter - Resident of Rutherford Co., born 12 Feb 1800 in Brunswick Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1814. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-William 8. Loving - Resident Haywood Co., born 21 Nov 1803 in Nelson Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1826. 
Occupation: lawyer. 
-Abram McClellan - Resident of Sullivan Co., born 29 June 1788 in Sullivan Co., then to North Carolina, now Tennessee. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Robert J. McKinney - Resident of Hawluns Co., born 25 Nov 1781 in County of Tyronne, Ireland. Emigrated to United 
States in September 1799 to Pennsylvania, to Tennessee in 1805. Occupation: lawyer. 
-Joseph A. Mabry - Resident of Knox Co., born 19 Mar 1798 in Virginia, emigrated to Tennessee in infancy. Occupation: 
farmer. 
-John McGaughey - Resident of Greene Co., born 12 July 1792 in Sevier Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-John Montgomery - Resident of Charlotte, Dickson Co., born 13 Feb 1794 in Sumner Co. Occupation: lawyer. 
-6eorge W. L. Marr - Resident of Obion Co., born in Henry Co., Va., on 25 May 1779, emigrated to Tennessee in 1799. 
Occupation: lawyer, more recently farmer. 
-John Neal - Resident of McMinn Co., born 10 Dec 1783 in Washington Co., Tenn. Occupation: farmer. 
-Richard Nelson - resident of Whlte Co., born 2 Apr 1800 in Greene Co. Occupation: lawyer. 
-Thomas 6. Porter - resident of Giles Co., born 20 Jul 1787 in Davidson Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-John Purdy - resident of Henderson Co., born 16 Apr 1798 in Mifflin Co., Pa., emigrated to Tennessee in 1819. Occupation: 
farmer. 
-William C. Roydman [Roadman] - Resident of Cocke Co., born 6 Oct 1784 in Williamsburg, Va., emigrated to Tennessee 
in 1808. Occupation: merchant and farmer. 
-Gorge W. Richardson - Resident of Franklin Co., born in Rome Co. on 28 Apr 1798. Occupation: farmer. 
-Henry Ridley - Resident of Rutherford Co., born 29 May 1794 in Davidson Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-Julius C. N. Robertson - Resident of Hardeman Co., born 20 Feb 1792 in Washington Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-Matthew Stephenson - Resident of Washington Co., born 7 Feb 1777 in Rockingham Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 
infancy. Occupation: farmer, land surveyor, merchant. 
-Willim T. Senter - Resident of Rhea Go., born 12 May 1801 in Hawkins Co. Occupation: merchant and minister of the 
Methodist Episcopal Church. 
-James W. Smith - Resident of Beech Hill, Jackson Co.; born 18 May 1770 in Granville Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee 
in 181 1. Occupation: farmer. 
-William C. Smartt - Resident of Warren Co., born 13 Nov 1785 in Mechlenberg Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1797. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-Henry Sharp - Resident of Lawrence Co., born 24 Sep 1779 in South Hampton Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1803. 
Occupation: farmer. 
-James Scott - Resident of Hardin Co., born 22 Jul 1804 in Clarke Co., Ga., emigrated to Tennessee in 1825. Occupation: 
lawyer. 
-Ennis Ury - Resident of Carroll Co., born 15 Mar 1799 in Davidson Co. Occupation: merchant. 
-John Whitson - Resident of Anderson Co., born 20 Feb 1796 in Washington Co. Occupation: farmer. 
-Isaac Walton - Resident of Sumner Co., born 1 Feb 1764 in Gates Co., N.C., emigrated to Tennessee in 1786. Occupation: 
farmer. 
-John J. White - Resident of Sumner Co., born 3 Apr 1798 in Hampshire Co., Mass., emigrated to the West in 1810 and to 
Tennessee in 18 14. Occupation: lawyer. 
-Jonathan Webster - Resident of Bedford Co., born 19 Mar 1779 in Spottsylvania Co., Va., emigrated to Tennessee in 1808. 
Occupation: farmer. 
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CONSTITUTION (continued) 

-Robert Weakley - Resident of Davidson Co., born 2 Jul 1764 in Halifax Co., Va., emigrated to North Carolina in the fall of 
1782 and to Tennessee in the fall of 1783. Occupation: land surveyor and farmer. 
-William K. Hill ( Secretary to the Convention ) - Resident of Maury Co., born 18 Mar 1793 in Duplin Co., N.C., emigrated 
to Tennessee in March 1812. Occupation: farmer. 
-William I. I. Morrow (Assistant Secretary) - Resident of Monroe Co., born 27 Nov 1802 in Jefferson Co. Occupation: 
doctor of medicine. 
-James McDowell (Doorkeeper) - Resident of Rutherford Co. Born in Greene Co., then lived in North Carolina, moved to 
Tennessee in 1787. Emigrated to Kentucky in 1808, again to Tennessee, then to Rutherford Co. in 1816. Occupation: 
carpenter. 
-Alfred C. Robertson (Assistant Doorkeeper) - Resident of Overton Co., born 8 Feb 1801 in Washington Co. Occupation: 
tanner. 

In the Memphis Pink Palace ho ther  genealogical ttfindlt in 
Museum is a small white marble the  hi^ museum is a Bible 
t~mbstone that might be of in- dated 1808. Opened to the Fam- 
terest to some genealogist. ily RecordslDeaths, it reads as 
Beautihlly carved in its surface follows: 
is the following: 

Ann J.  
wife of 

Peter Transou 
born 

at Salem N. C 
Dec. 1 7,1789 

Died 
June 7,1858 

Lewis Collins died 
Febwry the 8th 181 5 

Elizabeth Collins 
wife of Lewis Collins 
Senr died March 1 79 7 
aged 69 years 

According to the museum's data 
card, the tombstone was found Wiley Collins 

stacked with three others along a a son of Lewis Collins 

fence row near Jackson (Mad- died May the 13th 181 6 

ison County), Tenn. It appar- 
ently came from a cemetery 
which was plowed into a farm 
field in the 1930s. 

The property owner wanted to 
restore the cemetery but, not 
knowing its exact location, 
donated the tombstone to the 
museum so it would be pre- 
served. 

Charlotte Collins 
wife of Lewis Collins 
died the 25th of 
November 1842 

3953 Macon Rd., Apt. 1 
Memphis, lN 381 22 Phone (901) 

Editor, Ansearchin' News 
For the past several years, I have been 
compiling information and research on 
the ancestry and descendants of Rev. 
Henry Cato Horton, a lay minister in 
the Methodist Episcopal Church, born 
in 1794 in Lancaster Co., S.C. Rev. 
Horton was in the cotton business in 
Memphis and died there after the Civil 
War. He was married to Elizabeth 
Elliott Kennedy (1796-1863), born in 
Fairfield Co., S. C., and had 14 chil- 
dren. There are many descendants of 
this family living in Tennessee. Just 
recently I have started a newsletter 
with the intent to eventually print a 
genealogy and history on this family. 
If anyone is interested in this family, 
please contact me at 823 Calhoun St., 
Columbia, SC 29201, telephone 803- 
256-7777, FAX 803-252-0703. 

William R Bauer 
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Gallatin Hosts Enthusiastic Crowd 
r" ,s, " .. 

1,. k, - 
I % P 

(Based on an article from the 13 Jul 1835 issue of The Union, Nashville, Tern ) 
*" 

:?," In 1835, the town of Gallatin, Tenn., was bursting at the seams with 
- - the largest assemblage of people ever gathered in Surnner County up to that 

time. The occasion was a Fourth of July celebration that drew "upwards of 
1500" citizens. The date also may have marked the largest number of toasts ever drunk at one sitting in 
Gallatin -- or perhaps any where else, for that matter. The total: 68. Thirteen of them were called 
"regular," apparently meaning those that were planned as part of the program, and the other 55 were 
volunteer or spontaneous. Several in the crowd volunteered more than once. 

With the 1836 presidential election looming just ahead, many of the toasts were political in tone -- 
strongly endorsing such men as President Andrew Jackson, Vice President Martin Van Buren, Senator 
Hugh Lawson White, and others. Isaac Moore, who rose to give the afternoon's 60th toast, defended Van 
Buren saying "Only three charges brought against him have been sustained, to-wit: that he is a little man, 
a bald-headed man, and a Dutchman. " 

If any women were in the crowd, 9. Y. Blythe no doubt scored with them when he toasted, "A 
Lady -- when intelligent, amiable, and beautiful -- an invaluable jewel!" 

And Jesse Skeen offered a patriotic plea, "May the fair daughters of America breed none but 
republicans. " 

The proceedings opened in a public church with an "eloquent and fervent" prayer by Dr. W. P. 
Wowles. The Rev. H. 1411. Cryer read the Declaration of Independence, and 8. F. Bledsoe delivered the 
day's oration. The Union editor praised Bledsoe for "saying about as much as should be said and leaving 
nothing to be supplied." After the opening ceremony, the citizens repaired to the Grove where they 
partook of a sumptuous "Barbacue" and various refreshments prepared by Mr. Joel E. Daughtery. After 
the cloth was removed, Gen. William Hall acted as president of the day and was assisted by Gen. Robed 
Desha and Col. J o h n l h r g e  ~ l l i o t t . ~  

The crowd imbibed the 13 planned toasts, and then bent elbows in response to tributes 
volunteered by: Gen. William Hall, Gen. Desha, Gen. Elliott, Dr. J. 8. Peyton, Thomas Wethers, 
Maj. Sam'l Cockran (a soldier of the Revolution), 0. F. Bledsoe, H. L. Dinwiddie, Rev. H. M. Cryer, 
Thomas T. Smiley, Dr. Blackmore, Wm. C. Beck, Seaton I][. Turner, Esq., Josiah Walton, Esq., Col. 
Jo. C. Guild, Gen. Robert Desha, Capt. Jno. H. Dew, Thomas A. Baber, Thomas Barry, William C. 
Beck, Eli Odam, Major Young N. Douglass, Dr. 3. 9. Frankllin, 6. M. M'WhirQer, F. B. Wilson, 
William R. Elliston, H. H. Wethers, Dr. Jos. H. Peyton, Jo. G. Guild, Esq., William C. Beck, Col. J. 
Thompson, William M. Blackmore, Esq., Elijah Boddie, Esq., N. Prince, Jno. B. Howard, Meredith 
Hodges, Esq., E. k. Payne, Jno. TonopEns, S. M. Blythe, Gorge W. Allen, Esq., Thomas T. Smily, 
Esq., James Dabbs, Richard Alexander, Charles Morgan, Esq., F. L. MIDaniel, James Roney, 
Thomas Barry, A. M. Tompkins, Jas. L. MIKoin, Esq., D. C. Gaskill, Esq, Gen. R. Desha, James 
Stewart, Col. A. R Wynne, William M. Blackmore, Esq., George Love, James Dabbs, Jno. 
Hutchison, William White, and J. C. Guild. r ~ 1  

Organization of the Republican Party did not come until some two decades later, hence the editor of the Union was correct in using a lo~vercase "r." 

The newspaper account refers to Elliott as "Cieorge" in one place and "John" in another. 
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Missing Pieces 

T h e  body of a drowned man was found floating among some drifted wood at our landing on 
Monday evening last. It was clothed with a white Marseills vest, red flannel under shirt and white muslin 
over shirt with linen collar and wristbands, muslin drawers, blue woolen socks, and a white muslin cravat 
with "R Dearbon" worked in one corner with black or blue silk. He was a thick set man about five feet 
eight or ten inches high and had been in the water for eight or ten days. A jury of inquest was held but 
without giving any specific cause as to his death. There was an old scar under his right shoulder five or 
six inches long, and another close behind resembling that of a bullet. The steamboat Tuscahoma reported 
a murder having taken place in a flat boat at the Iron Banks a few days since which suggests the idea that 
this may be the unfortunate victim. 

(From the Randolph, Tenn., Recorder quoted in the 8 May I835 issue of the Nashville, Tenn., Union.) 
*:* 

Information is wanted of Francis Dummond, a young man aged about 19 years who left this city 
in July last and has not been heard from. He had worked a short time at the printing business previously 
to his leaving this place. Any information respecting him would be thanfilly received by his aged 
father. - J. Drummond 

(From the 11 May 183.5 issue of the Nashville, Tenn., Union) 
0:e 

O n  the first of last March my brother Noah left Jefferson Co., Ark., for Bourbon Co., Ky., in 
company with my four children, where they have not yet arrived, neither have they been heard of since 
they took shipping at the mouth of White river. The names of the children are Paine, Joseph, Napoleon, 
and Hosea. - Joseph Fugate, 24 Oct 1834 

Editors ofpapers between this and Louisville will confer a great favor upon the disconsolate 
parent and may perhaps be the means of the father finding his motherless children by givingpublicity to 
the above. 

(From the 7 Nov 1834 issue of the Randolph, Tenn., Recorder) 
*:* 

Notice: Ran away from the subscriber on the 22d June last, a bound boy named Bluford Ingle 
between 18 and 19 years old, small for his age, light-coloured hair. I will give one dollar reward to any 
person who will return him to me -- living on Potters Creek three miles north of Warrensbwg. - 
Christopher Haun ( 12 July 1824) 

(From the American Economist & East Tennessee Statesman, GreenvilIe, Tenn.) 
*:o 

My son George W. Stinnett left home some 10 years ago; when last heard from was on his way 
to New Orleans about eight years ago from Waterloo in Alabama. I will thank edi-tors to insert t h s  
notice and I will be greatly obliged to any person knowing anything of his whereabouts to write me at 
Knoxville, Tenn. - John Stinnett (23 Nov 1853) 

-Western Weekly Review, Franklin, Tenn. 
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James Mallory, sheriff and public tax collector 
for Stewart County, submitted a long list of delin- 
quent taxpayers to the county court in its February 
1820 term. The property owners were subject to 
double taxes for failing to pay assessments due in 
1819. The notice, published 30 June 1820 in a 
supplement to the Murfreesborough Courier, was 
signed by Robed Cooper, court clerk.. 

5,000 a. on Mississippi River 
1,000 a. on north fork of 

Forked Deer River 
5,000 a. on Chickasaw Bluff at 

mouth of Wolf River 
L a m  Carlar Tract of land on Harris' fork of 

Obien River 
Benjamin Shewrd 1,000 a. on Indian Creek of Tenn. 

River, 600 whereof is unsold 
Benjamin Shepherd Tract on north side of Tenn. River 

on Hay's Creek, 701 a. unsold 
Thomas Polk 5,000 a. on waters of Loose 

Hatchey River 
London C a e r  600 a. on Hams' fork of Obien R. 
London Carter 300 a. on Long Fork 
Alexander M'Kee 1,000 a. on Grove Creek 
London Carter 400 a. on north side of west fork 

of Obien River 
London Carter 640 a. on Harris' fork of Obien R. 
George Dohertie 

London Carter 500 a. on Hams' fork of Obien R. 
William Alston 2,000 a. on south side of Loose 

Hatchey River 
London Carter 500 a. on east side of Harris' Fork 

of Obien River 
Edward Hams 1,000 a. on west fork of Obien R. 
London Carter 500 a. on north side of Obien R. 

250 a. on south side of Tenn. R. 
5,000 a. on Obien River 
5,000 a. on Mississippi River 
250 a. on Tennessee River 
5,000 a. on Misssissippi River 

at Yellow Bluff 
1,000 a. on Forked Deer River 
1,055 a. on Big Hatchy River 

Robert Holmes 5,000 a. on Rutherford's Fork at 
the Obien River 

Thomas Davidson 5,000 a. on Obien River 
James Dougen 5,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 
John Wright 5,000 a. on Harris' Creek 
Suaderick Hargess 2,100 a. on Loose Hatchey River 
John Johnson and } 5,000 a. 14 miles from Mississippi 
M. Lewis 1 River on the east side 
Richard Blackledge 5,000 a. on Wolf River 
Shaderick Miller 4,000 a. on Reelfoot River 
Isaac Roberts 5,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 

1,000 a. on Rutherford's fork of 
Obien Riier 

Philomel Hawkins 4,000 a. on Indian Creek of 
Big Hatchey River 

2,000 a. on Obien River 

1,000 a. on both sides of Loose 
Hatchey River 

5,000 a. on Reelfoot of Mississippi 

David Sheiton 3,000 a. on north side of southeast 
fork of Forked Deer River 

1,000 a. on both sides of creek 
running into lndian Creek of Big 
Bickalin on south side about 2 
miles above mouth of said creek 

Edward Harris 1,000 a. on both sides of Richard 
Creek of Obien River 

Edwarct Harris 

Edward Harris 1,000 a. on both sides of Clover 
Lick Creek of Obien R. 

1,000 a. on south branch of 
lndian Creek 

1,000 a. on both sides of lick creek 
of Obien River 

1,000 a. on south fork of Obien R. 
1,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 
1,000 a. on Obien R. 
1,000 a. on both sides of Obien R. 
1,000 a. on both sides of Obien R. 
1,000 a. on south side of Loose 

Hatchey River 
1,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 

3,300 a. on south side of Obien R. 
5,000 a. on south fork of Forked 

Deer Riier 
2,000 a. on south fork of Forked 

Deer River 
1,000 a. on north side of Obien R. 

1,000 a. on west side Obien River 
1,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 

Thomas D i l h  1,000 a. below mouth of Duck 
River on south side of the Tenn. 

John Gray and ) 1,000 a. on north side of north fork 
Thomas Blwnt) of Obien R. 
Thomas D i l h  3,000 a. on south side of Tenn. 

opposite mouth of Duck River 
John Gray and } 1,000 a. on Obien River 
Thomas B h n t }  
Benjamin Smith 3,000 a. on south side of Forked Deer 
John Gray and } 1,000 a. on north side of north fork 
Thomas Bhwnt} of Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 
John Gray and } 1,000 a. on north fork of Obien River 
Thomas Blount} 
Benjamin Smith 3,000 a. on south fork of Forked Deer 
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OWNER PROPERTY 
The same 5,000 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
The same 5,000 a. (no location given) 
Edward Harris 1,000 a. on Clover Lick Creek 
John Stokes 2,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
Charles Gafloway 5,000 a. on the Mississippi 
William T. Lewis 1,490 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
Benjamin Smith 5,000 a. on Forked Deer River 
John Baliss 5,000 a. on south side of Obien R. 
James Cox 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
Hardy Murfree 5,000 a. on south side of Obien and 

north side of Forked Deer 
Thomas Cox 1,000 a. on west fork Forked Deer 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
William T. Lewis 1,000 a. on both sides Forked Deer 
William Polk 5,000 a. on Indian Creek of Big 

Hatchey river 
John Gray and ) 3,000 a. on Rutherford's creek 
Thomas Blount) of Obien river 
The same 1,000 a. on south side of Obien river 
Benjamin Smith 5,000 a. on south side of south fork 

of Forked Deer 
The same 5,000 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
The same 1,600 a. on south waters of south 

fork of Forked Deer 
John Gray and ) 1,000 a. on Obien River 
Thomas Blount) 
Micajah G. Lewis 1,000 a. on south side of south fork 

of Forked Deer 
William T. Lewis 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
Thomas Coor 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
James Coor 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
Thomas Rees Sharp 1,000 a. on Long Fork 
Alexander M'Kee 1,000 a. (no location given) 
William Polk 2,000 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
Amelia Johnson 1,000 a. on Big Hatchey 
William T. Lewis 1,500 a. on both sides of south fork 

of Forked Deer 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
The same 1,000 a. on Reelfoot river 
Abner Nash 2,000 a. on south side of Loose 

Hatchey river 
William Polk 3,000 a. on Mississippi River below 

mouth of Forked Deer 
Benjamin Smith 1,000 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
John Stokes 2,500 a. on south side of north fork 

of Forked Deer 
William Alston 1,000 a. on south fork Obien River 
The same 1,000 a. on south fork Obien River 
James Patterson 5,000 a. on Mississippi River 
James Hull 2,000 a. on south side Indian Creek 

of Big Hatchey 
Thomas R. Sharp 1,000 a. on Long Fork 
Jacob Blount 5,000 a. on south side Big Hatchey 
John Gray and ) 2,500 a. on Mississippi River 
Thomas Blount) 
Tolefanor Lewis 2,500 a. on Tennessee River 
John Gray and ) 2,000 a. both sides of Obien River 
Thomas Blount) 

OWNER PROPERTY 

John Childress 2,000 a. on third creek above mouth 
of Duck River 

George Cathey 1,130 a. on Rutherford's fork Obien r. 
John Dougan 2,165 a. on both sides Obien river 
John Gray and ) 1,000 a. (no location given) 
Thomas Blount) 
George Doherty 1,500 a. on north side of Loose 

Hatchey river 
Mension Hunt 5,000 a. on Seconglarge creek that 

empties into Tenn. R. on south 
side below mouth of Duck River 

Anthony Sharp 6,500 a. on north fork Forked Deer 
William Davidson 2,000 a, on south side Rutherford's 

creek of Obien river 
Jesse Steed 1,500 a. on south side Loose 

Hatchy r. 
John Childress 5,000 a. on Tennessee R. 

above mouth of Duck River 
William Hawkins 3,500 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
Joseph Ross 1,000 a. on a fork of the Obien River 
Alex. & David Greer 2,000 a. on Big Hatchey 
M. Davidson 2,000 a. on Obien River 
David Hart 2,250 a. on north side Big Hatchey 
William Hewlit 5,000 a. on east side Mississippi R. 
William Moore 1,320 a. on Big Hatchey R. 
Robertson Murmfords 5,000 a. on east side Mississippi R. 
William Hughlett 5,000 a. on south fork Forked Deer 
Thomas M'Chollon 3,470 a. on south side of Tenn. R. 

about 1 mile below mouth of 
Duck R. 

Henry Clark 5,000 a. on south side Obien R. 
Adam Boyd 5,000 a. on south side Forked Deer 
Obediah Baker 1,000 a. on south side Tenn. R. 
Jhon Childress 5,000 a. on south side Tenn. R. 
John Gray and ) 1,000 a. on Rutherford's fork 
Thomas Blount) of Obien R. 
Menecian Hunt 5,000 a. on north fork of Obien R. 
Menecian Hunt 5,000 a. on north fork of Obien R. 
George Doherty 2,000 a. (no location given) 
James Davidson 1,000 a. on Rutherford's fork 

of Obien R. 
Robert Patterson tract on Rutherford's fork of Obien 

River (acreage not given) 
John Windson 1,000 a. on Big Hatch 
Abner Nash 1,000 a. on north fork Obien R. 
Abner Nash 1,000 a. on both sides Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on both sides Grove Creek 
The same 1,000 acres on south side Obien R. 
The same tract on north side Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on south fork Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork of Obien R. 
The same 1,000 a. on north fork of Obien R. 
John Gray and ) 1,000 a. on Grove Creek 
Thomas Blount) 
The same 1,000 a. on Grove Creek 
The same 1,000 a. on Reel Foot river 
The same 1,000 a. on Reel Foot river 
The same 1,000 a. on Reel Foot river 

(Continued Next Page) 
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Cannon County Land Sold 
For Unpaid Taxes 11z 1869 

In a notice dated 19 March 1869 and published in The 
Shelbyville Republican, Cannon County tax collector Jes- 
see H. Gilley announced the following land would be 
sold at the courthouse door in Woodbury on the first 
Monday in July for unpaid 1867 and 1868 taxes: 
OWNlER I)ISTRICT 
T. J. Hunt 67 1 
Mary Pollock 50 5 
R Q. Qualls, Adm. of Morton 200 5 
Dr. Rutherford 293 5 
- Byram 200 5 
A. F. Jones 800 6 
James Thompson 19 6 
James Allen 40 7 
J.R & J. k Hamrnonds 65 7 
William Moore 300 7 
Mary Starr heirs 200 7 
James Thompson 75 7 
Edmund Vaughn 51 7 
Henry Justice 140 8 
Thomas Merritt 30 8 
George McCanse 150 8 
Mary Manus 48 8 
Andrew Sullivan 63 3 
J. H. Boyett 200 5 
Earthman & Travis 640 5 
J. W. Hopkins 50 5 
James Orick 50 5 
Caroline Saunders 300 8 
Robert Arnold 25 9 
William West heirs 600 8 
William West, No. 2 300 8 
William West, No. 3 51 8 
6. T. Barren 100 9 
Nepthale Blue 50 9 
Rufus Simpson 9 9 

(one town lot in Mechanicsville) 

D. S. Ford 120 10 
Zachariah Thomason 5,000 10 
Elizabeth Bogle 35 11 
David Smithson 50 10 
L. P. Cooper 80 11 
Henry Dougherty, adm. of 160 11 

L. M. Allison, dec'd 
Ann Landsden 93 11 
P. 6. Leach 200 11 
Anthony Owen 150 11 
Z. Smith's heirs 84 11 
- Bank's heirs 50 12 
Simon Keykendall 100 5 
James Whetlock 90 11 
P. 6. Leach for 1867 250 11. 

Perrv-Dixon 
Bible 

The following information was taken from a Bible 
now in the possession of B B e  Owen, 2948 
Pangbourne Cove, Germantown, TN 38138. 
Written on the inside cover are the words, "To 
Mrs. M. A Perry from Her Husband 1869." The 
Bible, containing both the Old and New 
Testaments, was published by the American Bible 
Society, New York, in 1864. 

FAMILld RECORD. 
MARRIAGES. 

James Perry & Mary Angeline Kerr were married bv 
Rev. Arthur Davis December 1 lth 1850. 

Augustus M. Dixon & Mary A. Perry were married by 
Rev. W. T. Harriss D.D. April 1 lth 1880. 

BIRTHS. 
James Perry was born in Smith Countv. Tennessee 

October 26th -1819. Professed religion a& joined the 
Church in the spring of 1839 -- was ~icenced to preach 
and received into the Memphis Conference in the fall of 
1843. 

Mary Angeline Perry was born in Giles County Tenn. 
January 18th 1827. 

Susan Ann Peny Daughter of Jas. & M. A. Perry was 
born October 12th 185 1, was Baptized by Rev. A. Davis 
Nov. 30th 1851. 

Mary Adaline Perry, Daughter of Jas. & M. A. Peny 
was born August 30th 1854. And Baptized by Rev. R. V. 
Taylor December 29th 1854. 

Hugh P. Dixon was born July 17th 1881 -- Was 
Baptized by Rev. Henry C. Momson June 13th 1882. 

DEATHS. 

Susan Ann Perry Daughter of Jas. & W. A. Perry Died 
January 27th 1860, in Tippah Co. Mississippi aged 8 
years 3 months & 15 Days.. 

STEWART CO. TAX LIST 
(Continuedfrom Page 19) 

London Carter 640 a. on Harrisses' fork 
of Obien R. 

William Dobyns tract on Tennessee R. 
Augustine Harvey 2,000 a. on Reel Foot 
William Sharp tract on south side Obien 

River 
George Doherty 2,000 a. on south side 

Loose Hatchy river 
James Davidson 2,000 a. on both sides 

Obien river 
John Gray and ) 2,000 a. on Rutherford's 
Thomas Blount) fork of Obien river 
Richard Blackbage 2,000 a. on Caw Creek 

John Gray and ) 5,000 a. on Big Hatchy 
Thomas Blount) 
Thomas Talbot 1,000 a. on first fork of Loose 

Hatchy river 
Samuel Morris 5,000 a. on north fork of Loose 

Hatchy river 
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Meriwether Lewis: His Last Days on the Natchez Trnce 
BY 

Henry A. Hudson, Jr. and Mary Kay Hudson 
275 Fawn Lake Drive, Millington, TN 38053-6803 

This is but a part of the story of Meriwether Lewis, leader 
and hero of the Lewis-Clark expedition, personal friend and 
private secretary to President Thomas Jefferson, and terri- 
torial governor of Upper Louisiana. Born 18 Aug 1774 in 
Albemarle Co., Va., about seven miles west of Charlottes- 
ville, Lewis died 11 Oct 1809 at Griner's Stand, Tenn., on the 
Natchez Trace some 70 miles southwest of Nashville in what 
is now Lewis County. He died a bachelor, although there is 
evidence he was interested in several young ladies in Virginia 
after his return from the Pacific. Whatever happened to him 
is of historical significance to Tennessee and much can be 
learned about the times from the last few days in the life of 
this individual who achieved so much in so short a period in 
our history. Meriwether Lewis 

Lewis' final travels began in the late summer of 1809 in St. Louis. He was headed to Washington City 
(later Washington, D. C.) to meet with various Madison administration officials to explain his financial 
dealings as territorial governor. Of particular concern were his vouchers for public expenditures which had 
been rejected by the War Department. Lewis was upset to the point that he thought his personal 
attendance was required to settle the matter. His personal finances, as well, were not on solid footing. He 
left St. Louis by boat and headed downstream, traveling on the Mississippi initially to obtain passage in 
New Orleans by sail to continue on to Washington. 

Along the way, Lewis became ill. His malady may have been an initial occurrence of some bacterial or 
viral infection unknown at the time or a relapse of something that had afflicted him earlier. We may never 
know. Observers have commented that Lewis showed signs of delirium and depression, and of not being 
within his faculties. He apparently was in this state upon arriving at Fort Pickering, which was located at 
the junction of the fourth Chickasaw Bluff and the Mississippi River on the site now known as Memphis. 
Fort Pickering was not new to Lewis as he had been posted there in 1797 in the earlier part of his military 
career. He and his party arrived at 2 p.m. on 15 Sep 1809 and, needing provisions for the remainder of 
their trip, went ashore. It was then that the fort commander, Capt. Gilbert C. Russell, determined Lewis 
needed rest and recuperation. He and his party remained there for 14 days while he gradually recovered -- 
at least in part -- from whatever afflicted him. 

During this time, Lewis changed his travel plans drastically and decided to travel overland to Washington 
instead of proceeding via New Orleans. The reason was that he feared the British might intercept his 
passage at sea, not only placing his treasured Lewis and Clark journals in harm's way but also endangering 
the vouchers and other paper documents that he hoped would bring an end to his financial woes and 
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RIWETHER LEWIS (continued) 

the challenges to his office. At the time, the British and Americans 
were not seeing eye to eye on a variety of issues. Lewis apparently 
made his decision in view of the risks involved in taking either route. 
On one hand were the at-sea risks earlier described, and on the other 
were the dangers involved in traveling the primitive roads of the 
West: Indians, highway bandits, and the wilderness. One theory has 
it that he wanted to avoid Gen. James Wilkinson in New Orleans, 
having information about Wilkinson's corrupt land dealings in the 
Upper Louisiana Territory. He may not have desired to share his 
true reason with Major Amos Stoddard, the person to whom he was 
to address his last letter. Once Lewis made his decision, he 
dispatched a letter to Stoddard at Fort Adams in the Mississippi 
Territory, advising him of the change in his travel itinerary. He also 
asked Stoddard to forward to him in Washington the $200 which the 
major was holding for him. 

Lewis' final letter is worthy of close examination. Scholars have 
examined its content in great detail. What may be missing is an 
examination of the postal significance of the letter, the postal 
regulations in effect at the time, and Lewis' ability to apply these 
rules in posting his letter. Such an analysis may provide an insight 
into Lewis' state of mind at the time and may help researchers in 
either defending or rejecting any theory about him suffering mental 
afflictions. These considerations are important as scholars flock to 
two opposite theories about the cause of death, one being suicide and 
the other murder. 

Lewis' letter to Major Stoddard was datelined Fort Pickering, 
Chickasaw Bluffs, Sept. 22, 1809. Since the city of Memphis was 
not even chartered at the time, there was no official post office at 
Fort Pickering. The letter had to be sent to the Chickasaw Nation 
post office in the Mississippi Territory to be postmarked. It bears a 
primary manuscript postmark of Chickasaw Nation, Sept. 15, 1809. 
This is three days after Lewis wrote it. A manuscript postmark such 
as this is common for the period because the volume of mail at many 
post offices was so small that the Post Office Department would not 
purchase a circular date stamp for the office. The postmaster simply 
wrote the name of the post office and the date posted on the outside 
of the folded letter sheet, usually in the upper lefthand corner. These 
items of postal history, common through the mid-1850s, are known 
as stampless covers. l 

11 Lewis' Letter 11 
Dear Maior Stoddard: 

I must acknowledge myself 
remiss in not writing you in 
answer to several friendly epis- 
tles which I have received from 
you since my return from the 
Pacific Ocean. My continued 
occupation in the immediate dis- 
charge of the duties of a public 
station will I trust in some 
measure plead my apology. 

I am now on my way to the 
City of Washington and had 
contemplated taking Fort Adams 
and Orleans in my route, but my 
indisposition has induced me to 
change my route and shall now 
pass through Tennessee and 
Virginia. The protest of some 
bills which I have lately drawn 
on public account form the 
principal inducement for my 
going forward at this moment. 
An explanation is all that is 
necessary I am sensible to put all 
matters right. In the mean time 
this protest of a draught 
however just, has drawn down 
upgon me at one moment all my 
private debts which have exces- 
sively embarrassed me. I hope 
you will therefore pardon me for 
asking you to remit as soon as is 
convenient the sum of $200 
which you have informed me you 
hold for me. -- I calculated on 
having the pleasure to see you at 
Fort Adams as I passed, but am 
informed by Capt. Russel the 
commanding officer of this place 
that you are stationed on the 
West side of the Mississippi. 
You will direct to me at the City 
of Washington until! the last of 
December after which I expect I 
shall be on my return to Ft. 
Adams. 

Your sincere friend & Obt. 
S ervt . 

Meriwether Lewis 

For additional information on stampless covers, see Henry Hudson's article in the Spring 1996 issue of The Tennessee Genealogical Magazine ("Ansearchin' " 
News). 
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(continued) 

The manuscript postmark for Fort Adams, which appears as a secondary mark, is especially interesting 
since a straight-line, hand-held townldate stamp was known to be in use as early as 1805 in Fort Adams. 
The letter was sent to Stoddard in Fort Adams as Lewis addressed it. The rate of postage was 20 cents, 
which was calculated at the Chckasaw Nation post office based on the distance from Chickasaw Nation to 
Fort Adams, Mississippi Territory. The Fort Adams manuscript postmark of Oct. 4, 1809, indicates the 
letter was forwarded to Washington on that date. Thus it was reposted at Fort Adams and noted as a 
"Forw'd" (forwarded) letter with additional postage of 25 cents noted on the letter. At Fort Adams, the 
original 20-cent rate was marked out and it appears that the postmaster recalculated the rate to 50 cents, 
using a 25-cent forwarding fee he added to the "25" in the original posting date of Sept. 25, 1809, for a 
total rate of . However, the correct rate for this letter should have been an initial 20 cents, plus an 
additional 25 cents from Fort Adams to Washington for a total of 45 cents. 

At the time, pre-payment of postage was not required and the rates that appear on this letter are all "due 
rates" to be paid by the recipient of the letter at its destination. It is important to note that Lewis had no 
role whatsoever in all of this except to address the letter. All of the rate marks, forwarding marks, post 
offices shown, and the word "Mail" were added after the letter was sealed and addressed by Lewis. These 
marks are a reflection on the postmasters involved. As was a common practice in the times, Lewis paid no 
money in postage to have this letter sent. 

Meriwether Lewis was a U. S. territorial governor at the time. His position was indeed a high one within 
the ranks of federal service. Why did he not use the privilege of "free franlung" his letter? Why not invoke 
a possible benefit of his office to send this letter without cost to either the sender or the recipient? He 
probably could have marked his letter "Free" or "On Public Service" and it would have easily passed 
through the mail. Quite possibly, Lewis fully realized that the letter's content was strictly personal and 
contained nothing related to his office as governor. In this regard, he must have realized that franking his 
letter to avoid postage would be but another hint of impropriety and he purposely wanted to avoid any hint 
of wrong-doing, especially at this point. His ability to sort out the use of the appropriate postal regulations 
of the time, the error-free nature of the letter itself, and his avoidance of any hint or abuse of office in 
posting this letter may be but another indicator that Meriwether Lewis was well within his faculties (at least 
at this time) and not suffering some mental affliction as many have postulated. 

The postal rates in effect at the time of Lewis' letter were the result of a re-enactment of the following rates 
for single letters as provided by the Act of May 8, 1794: 17 cents for letters sent 150-300 miles, 20 cents 
for those 300-500 miles, and 25 cents for those going over 500 miles The distance from Chickasaw 
Nation to Fort Adams is extremely close to 300 miles; therefore, the initial rate of 20 cents is correct. The 
postmaster at Fort Adams, however, recomputed the rate at 25 cents (over 500 miles) which was an error 
on his part. Recall that he marked through the 20-cent rate and used the "25" for the day of the month as 
the recomputed rate. His 25-cent fee to forward the letter to Washington from Fort Adams was correct as 
the distance is well over 500 miles. Now, following both the letter and its author: Lewis and his party set 
out overland from Fort Pickering on Sept. 29. In the party were Lewis' servant Pernier, James Neelly, 
Indian agent for the Chickasaws, and Neelly's servant. Key to Neelly's appointment as Indian agent was 
the influence of Gen. James Wilkinson. 
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RIMETHER LEWIS (continued) 

Lewis carried two trunks containing his Pacific expedition papers, Gen. William Clark's land warrant, a 
portfolio, a pocketbook memo book and notebook, and numerous public and private papers. He had two 
horses, saddles, bridles, pistols, a tomahawk, dirk, and $220 including a $98.58 treasury check on the U.S. 
Bank of New Orleans. From Fort Pickering the party proceeded in a southeastwardly direction some 100 
miles to the Chickasaw Agency which was located about six miles north of what is now Houston, Miss., 
arriving there Oct 4. It was at this point that they intercepted the Natchez Trace. On Oct. 6 after a two- 
day layover, they left the Chickasaw Agency and turned northeastwardly towards Nashville. Three days 
later on Oct. 9 they crossed the Tennessee River. Five days out from the Chickasaw Agency -- on Oct. 11 
-- Lewis met his death. 

Lewis' letter to Major Stoddard was forwarded from Fort Adams, Mississippi Territory, in the next postal 
pouch leaving after Oct. 4. The letter was on its way to Washington via Nashville and other points along 
the Natchez Trace. At this point, the letter and its author are several hundred miles apart. Lewis' death will 
soon change all that. Did this letter cross Lewis' path before or after his death? What an ironic situation. 
Given the postal schedule, the distance from Fort Adams to Chickasaw Nation is about 300 miles and to 
Nashville, another 170 miles or so. As Griner's Stand is 70 miles from Nashville, the letter probably passed 
the stand within a day or two of Oct 13. It went from Fort Adams to Natchez, then north on the Natchez 
Trace. From Natchez, the mail left at 6 a.m. on Friday and arrived at the Chickasaw Nation or McIntosh's, 
as it was sometimes called, in 6-112 days or at 5 p.m. the following Thursday. From Chickasaw Nation, it 
headed north on the Natchez Trace, crossing into Tennessee past various stands to Nashville. 

Lewis had not followed his intended path and neither did his letter. They both converged, probably within 
a day of each other, on the same road at a place called Griner's Stand. Although we will not solve this 
mystery by looking at the mail, it is even more ironic to find that James Neelly, the Indian agent traveling 
with Lewis, was appointed postmaster for the Chickasaw Nation post office on July 1, 1810 less than 
seven months after Lewis' death. Neelly's role in the Lewis affair, what brought him to Fort Pickering, the 
patronage involved, and the possible link to Lewis' death make for very interesting reading and study. The 
case is far from closed. 

REFERENCES AND SELECTED READINGS: 
Ambrose, Stephen E.: 1 Tndaunted Courage. 1966, Simon and Schuster, New York. 
Chandler, David L.: f i e  Jefferson Conspiracies. 1994, William Morrow & Co., Inc., New York. 
Dillon, Richard H.: Meriwether Lewis, 1965, Coward-McCam, New York. 
Fisher, Vardis: Suicide or Murder? 1962, Alan Swallow, Denver. 
Oakley, Bruce C.: ,4 Postal History of Mississippi. 1969, Magnolia Publishers, Baldwin, Miss. 
Phillips, David G.: American Stam~iess Cover Catalog. 1985, David G. Phillips Co., Inc., North Miami, Fla.. 

GENEALOGICALLY SPEAKING ... The first Lewis to come to America is said to have been Robert Lewis, a 
Welshman and British army officer, who arrived in 1635 with a royal grant for 33,333 acres of Virginia land. Among his 
numerous progeny was Colonel Robert Lewis, who lived in Albemarle County in the 18th century. The colonel accumulated 
enough wealth to leave substantial plantations to all of his nine children. His fifth son, William, born in 1738, married his 22- 
year old cousin Lucy Meriwether in 1769. She was the daughter of Col. Nicholas Meriwether. Both families lived near 
Charlottesville, and both were Welsh and land-rich. William and Lucy's first child, born in 1770, was a daughter whom they 
named Jane. Meriwether Lewis was born in 1774, and a second son, Reuben, was born in 1777. William, a first lieutenant in 
the Continental Line, died of pneumonia in 1779. Six months later Lucy married Capt. John Marks. They had two children, 
John Hastings Marks born in 1785 and Mary Garland Marks born in 1788. 
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26 ROUTES TAKEN BY LEWIS AND HIS LETTER 
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West Tennessee, Mississippi Territory and 
'Ihe Natchez Trace- 1809 



Shelby County Naturalization Docket 185 8 
(From microfilm at Memphis/Shelby County Public Library) 

PAGE 13 
NAME 
Derrick Paulirsere Prussia Declaration of intention, Feb. 10 
Henry Koch Prussia Declation of intention, Feb. 10 
Patrick Ryan Ireland Naturalization decree, Feb. 23 
Darril Cusek Ireland Naturalization decree, Feb. 23 
Edward Marsden England Declaration of intention, Feb. 2 1 
J. G. Schermann Saxon, Germany Declaration of intention, Feb. 22 
A_(?) Herman Sangberri Saxy-Coburg, Ger. Declaration of intention Feb. 27 
G. A. Schafer Saxy-Coberg, Ger. Declaration of intention, Feb. 27 

m 
Owen ~ a n n )  ' Ireland Declaration of intention, March 2 
Hugh Cauly ) 
Damen R. Rausher 
O w e a r e n  Morgan 
Louis JeN 
Isaac Bomberger 
B. Walker 
Hugh Hone 

,l?AczB 
John Sobey 
J. Fergusen 
John P. Beyer 
Isaac Strauss 
Michael Pendergrast 

l?sxiEx 
Thomas Kelley 
Frederick J. Atwood 
Daniel O'Connell 
James Anner 
Jacob Ginsman 
Patrick McMahon 
Solomon McMahon 
John McMahon 

l?AcEx 
Louis Sollheim 
Edward Hally 
Lawrence McNarnara 
Thomas Maline 
Jacob Brinkley 
Joseph Frey 
William Costigan 
Thomas G. Mahony 

Ireland 
France 
Ireland 
France 
Bavaria 
Bavaria 

Ireland or England 

Ireland or England 
Ireland 
Bavaria 
Baden 
Ireland 

Ireland 
England or Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 

Hessen, Germany 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Wittenburg 
Wittenburg 
Ireland 
Ireland 

Declaration of intention, March 2 
Declaration of intention, March 3 
Declaration of intention, March 12 
Naturalization decree, March 16 
Naturalization decree, March 20 
Naturalization decree, March 22 
Naturalization decree, April 7 

Naturalization decree, April 13 
Naturalization decree, April 14 
Naturalizaiton decree, April 16 
Naturalization decree, April 17 
Naturalization decree, April 18 

Naturalization decree, June 9 
Naturalization decree, June 10 
Naturalization decree, June 1 1 
Naturalization decree, June 1 1 
Naturalization decree, June 19 
Naturalization decree, June 22 
Naturalization decree, June 22 
Naturalization decree, June 22 

Declaration of intention, June 1 1 
Declaration of intention, June 13 
Declaration of intention, June 22 
Declaration of intention, June 24 
Declaration of intention, June 24 
Declaration of intention, July 24 
Declaration of intention, July 8 
Declaration of intention, July 8 

The names of Owen Mann and Hugh Cauly are both marked through with word "Error" written in 

"ANSEARCHIN' " NEWS, Spring 1997 





SHELBY NATUR.AT-,IZATION (continued) 

l ? L x a . E  
NAME 
David Dolch 
Thomas Marshall 
John H. Kelly 
William Barin 
Edrnund Kating 
Patrick Campbell 
Alexander Tysan 
Denis Lynch 

l?iuEa. 
David McFarley 
George Johnson 
William Cowdow 
Patrick O'Donnell 
John Seiber 
John Wegassen 
Martin Lautergack 
Naslin Carroll 

Christian Beeker 
John McMahon 
Robert Cook 
F. Rubenstein 

l?4xEz 
Richard Parker 
Edward P. Citz 
John Cavance 
Richard Dunn 
G. A. Junkerman 
G. A. Kulm 
G. A. W O E  
Augustin Plischky 

John Bruder 
William Stuart 
Jacob Sikler 
J.G. W. Horsler 
William Terer 
Michael Glyson 
Michael Joyce 
James McSweeney 

El4GEz 
Peter S. Turm 

Wertemburg, Ger. 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Norway 
Ireland 

Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Baden, Ger. 
Germany 
Bavaria 
Ireland 

Saxony 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Prussia 

Great Britain 
Prussia 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Prussia 
Prussia 
Prussia 
Prussia 

Germany 
Ireland 
Wirtemburg 
Germany 
Wirtemberg 
Ireland 
Ireland 
Ireland 

Prussia 

Naturalization decree, June 23 
Naturalization decree, June 23 
Naturalization decree, June 23 
Naturalization decree, June 23 
Naturalization decree, June 23 
Declaration of intention, June 24 
Declaration of intention, June 24 
Declaration of intention, June 24 

Declaration of intention, June 25 
Declaration of intention, June 25 
Declaration of intention, June 26 
Naturalization decree, June 28 
Declaration of intention, June 28 
Declaration of intention, June 28 
Naturalization decree, July 6 

Naturalization decree, July 12 
Declaration of intention, July 12 
Declaration of intention, July 12 
Naturalization decree, July 19 

Declaration of intention, Oct 26 
Declaration of intention, Oct. 26 
Declaration of intention, Oct. 19 
Declaration of intention, Oct. 19 
Declaration of intention, Oct. 29 
Declaration of intention, Oct. 29 
Declaration of intention, Nov. 2 
Naturalization decree, Nov. 3 

Declaration of intention, Nov. 4 
Naturalization decree, Nov. 1 1 
Declaration of intention, Nov. 15 
Declaration of intention, Nov. 16 
Naturalization decree, Nov. 16 
Naturalization decree, Nov. 29 
Naturalization decree, Dec. 4 
Naturalization decree, Dec. 6 

Declaration of intention, Dec. 9B 
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When Conrad Girdner died at his home in Greene County's 9th District on 12 May 1882, 
he had attained the age of 95 years, 2 months, and 22 days. That's an impressive age even 
today ... and certainly a rare achievement more than a century ago. His death was 
attributed to "old age and a consuming sore." Before he died, Girdner was interviewed by 
J. S. Warner who later put the facts he had extracted from the old man into a story which 

ran in the Greeneville Herald. Of German lineage, Girdner was born in Hedrick Township, Northampton 
Co., Pa., on 20 Feb 1787. His parents were Micheal, who also was born in Northarnpton, and Euldah 
peach)  Girdner. Conrad was the second of nine children born to the couple. His siblings were: David, 
Joseph, Ghristena, Micheal, Charlotte, George, Mary, and Nancy. Here's how Conrad Girdner 
described the family's migration to Tennessee: 

"H was five years old when my parents, with the oldest and tvvo younger than I, left Pennsylvania for 
the wilds of Tennessee with tvvo horses and a wagon. We were accompanied by tvvo brothers-in-law, 
one named Myers and the other Cook, and their families. I walked all the way from our old home to 
Flag Branch in Greene CounQ where any father settled on 100 acres, which he later added to by 
purchase. The distance we traveled was 700 miles and I well remember every step of the jouraey. 
We left in February of 1792 and were fully seven weeks on the way. When we arrived, there was 
just a little cabin on the property which is now owned and occupied by the widow Penman. 

"When we came, the Indians were still in possession of parts of East Tennessee and continued to 
annoy the white settlers till 1805 when the treaty impelled them to go elsewhere. During one of the 
Indian wars, Charles O'Neal, an Irishman, taught school in our neighborhood and I attended for 
three months. He said he had taught 1300 diflerent scholars and I was the very quickest to learn. 
But our facilties for schooling were very limited. I learned to read, write some, and could cast 
accounts suficiently for my purpose through life. 

"Elder children had to get up before daylight and break flax and perform other labor before school 
in order to enable my mother to spin and weave cloth with which to clothe us. I lived with my 
father till 1807 when I married Elizabeth George, daughter of Uost George who came from 
Germany when he was four years of age. I was 20 when I married. Part of my father's land was set 
off for me and I settled down for life. My wife and I had 11 children, six daughters and five sons -- 
William, Catharine, John, Delilah, Luther, Eliza, Mary June, Stephen, Alexander, Nancy, and 
Sally. 

"Years after my father came out, my grandfather David Girdner came to Greene County with a 
span of horses and a wagon. Grandmother drove the team and Grandfather sat beside her. He died 
in the estate I now occupy on Richland Creek I was engaged in the War of 1812 under Gen. 
Andrew Jackson and so was my father though he was a man well stricken in years. He died in 
1814, aged 60 years. After his death, my mother married Lewis Wall." 

Girdner made his last trip to town in September 1881 to prepare his pension papers. His mind was 
vigorous until about the following February when it as well as his body began to weaken. On 20 Feb 
Conrad gave a dinner party to celebrate his 95th birthday. Among those attending were his son, Dr. 
William Girdner, his wife, and some others. rn 
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Book Rev 
by Dr. A.B. Pru- 

itt. 1996. 8%x11" softcover bound in six parts, 1,352 pp. including two-part index. $122 ($129for North Carolina residents) 
from Bruce Pruitt, Box 815, Whitaker, NC 27891. 

This monumental work, donated by the author to the TGS Library in memory of John Overton of Traveler's Rest, took some 
three years to compile. As a result of what must have been arduous labor, Dr. Pruitt has provided the researcher with the most 
thorough and comprehensive compilation to date of the Revolutionary War military bounty land warrants issued by North 
Carolina to former members of its regiments in the continental line. The warrants were issued free of charge to those who 
had served at least two years. The soldier's rank determined the number of acres he received -- ranging from 640 acres for 
privates to 12,000 for brigadier generals. The warrants were taken to Tennessee to determine the land's location, and a 
description of the location was recorded along with the warrant in the military land office in Nashville. The land was then 
surveyed, and the survey and original warrant were returned to Raleigh so a grant could be issued. Soldiers not wishing to 
move to Tennessee could assign or sell their warrant to anyone. Because some fraud was detected in issuing and selling 
warrants, Dr. Pruitt says a name on a warrant does not always mean the man actually served in the continental line. Some 
former soldiers who sold their warrants were cheated out of them. For this reason, researchers should seek additional 
information to confirm a soldier's military service or determine that the seller was actually a soldier's heir. Sales involving a 
power of attorney are especially suspect, the author warns, and some warrants issued while William Whte was secretary 
involved obvious fraud though no investigation was ever made. 

Parts 1 and 2 contain abstracts of surviving sections of location books maintained in Martin Armstrong's office. The abstracts 
give location number, warrant number, person for whom the location was made, number of acres, general description of the 
land, name of person who aided in locating the land, and name of the surveyor. Only about half of Armstrong's location 
books have been found. Parts 3 and 4 contain information about all warrants issued while Armstrong was in charge of the 
military land office in Nashville. He operated the office from 1783 to 1797, and handled about 5, 117 warrants. Part 5 
contains information about some 1,242 warrants issued from 1800 to 1841 while William Christmas was in charge of the 
office.Mentioned are the warrant number and date, the soldier's name and rank, number of acres, name of person who took 
the warrant from the office of the Secretary of State. Included when applicable are the name of the person who received a 
grant, location of the warrant and survey in North Carolina's land grant files, location of similar material in Tennessee along 
with abstracts, abstracts of some petitions to the North Carolina Assembly relating to the warrant, and location in land fraud 
papers of the opinion of the Boards of Inquiry about the legality of the warrant's issuance and sale. Part 6 contains an index 
of personal names followed by item (not page) numbers, plus an index of geographcal names with numerical accounts of 
warrants, file numbers from North Carolina land grant files, and MARS computer numbers (similar to land grant file 
numbers). The warrants indicate numerous people who served in the military, and some who were interested in obtaining 
land in Tennessee during the early years of the state's existence. 

edited by Helen F. M. 
Leary. 1996. 8%''xI 1 " hardcover, 626 pp. with appendix and index. $48 postpaid from North Carolina Genealogical Society 
Book Sales, P.O. Box 1492, Raleigh, NC 27602. (North Carolina residents add 6% sales tax.) 

This celebrated reference work, first published in 1980, has been out of print for a number of years now, and its newly revised 
and expanded edition deserves a prominent spot on any genealogist's bookshelf. While the new version admirably succeeds in 
the Society's original mission "to provide in a single, accurate, and conveniently organized source the information necessary 
for pursuing North Carolina research," it also provides valuable suggestions that should help genealogists in pursuing 
research in virtually any state. The first of its seven sections, for instance, gives research techniques that include evaluating 
data,designing strategies, using research facilities, taking notes, reading handwritten records, abstracting, mapping, writing 
research letters, and using computers. The other six sections deal with county, state, and federal records; private records such 
as family sources, cemetery and church records, newspapers, and business records; non-written records such as oral history, 
photographs, and artifacts. The appendices include long &stance research, selected terms and abbreviations, genealogical 
organization and compilation, and an index. In addition, the book contains 85 illustrations of various documents. It all adds 
up to a book that's just about equivalent to a college course in genealogy. 
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Book Q Rev e W S  (continued) 

by Elizabeth Petty Bentley. 1996. 8%"d 1" softcover, 355 
pp. $34.95 plus $3.40 P&H. Genealogical Publishing Co., Inc., 1001 N. Culvert St., Baltimore, MD 21202. Visa and 
Mastercard orders: Phone 1-800-296-6687, FAX 1-41 0-752-8492. 

The third edition of this handy publication provides information on some 6500 or more family associations across the 
country, based largely on data from questionnaires sent to family organizations, reunion committees, and one-name socieities. 
Information also was obtained from standard family history journals and newsletters. Alphabetically arranged in a three- 
column format, the directory gives addresses, phone numbers, contact persons, and publications. It should provide major 
asistance in making contact with family members, shanng family hstory information, arranging reunions, and developing 
common ground between people of the same surnames. This edition includes thousands of new and amended listings, dates 
and locations of family reunions, and the frequency and price of family publications. 

by Donald M. Hehir. 
1996. 5'/4"x8" softcover, 196 pp., cross index to family and secondary names, $25 postpaid from Heritage Books, Inc., 1540- 
E Pointer Ridge PI., Suite 300, Bowie, MD 20716, phone 1-800-398-7709. 

Some 1500 surnames of families having a connection to Tennessee are listed in this bibliography. Most of the books can be 
found at either the Library of Congress or the Daughters of the American Rrevolution Library in Washington, or the National 
Genealogical Society Library in Arlington, Va. Also listed are a number of books in 15 or so historical associations and 
public libraries across the country. All entries are presented alphabetically by surname, with a cross-reference index to help 
researchers find family and secondary surnames that otherwise would remain buried within the text. A separate section lists 
family histories and genealogies available on microfilm at the Library of Congress by mid-1992. 

by James 1. Murphy. 1996. 8'/4"xI 1" softcover, 114 pp. including full 
name index, bibliography. $25 postpaid from Buttahatchie Publications, P.O. Box 386, Caledonia, MS 39749. (E-Mail - 
JMurphy@FHU. EDU) 

John Murphy, Sr., a Revolutionary War soldier, was born in York Co., Pa., married Jane Love and reared a family in York 
Co., S.C., migrated briefly to Madison Co., Ala., and spent his last years in Lowndes Co., Mississippi. This family history 
begins with the arrival of John's father, James Murphy, from Ireland in 1746 and continues until shortly after the Civil War. 
The author blends local and regional history with specific family-related information in an attempt to put "flesh on the bones" 
and also includes maps, census records, land transactions, and estate matters. Branches of the family settled in West 
Tennessee's Hardeman County in the 1820's and their descendants can still be found in the area. Concentrations of 
descendants also are found in Arkansas and Texas. 

by Sandi Garrett. 1995. 9x1 2" softcover. 169 
pp. with index. $25postpaidfrom Cherokee Woman Publishing, P.O. Box 48, Spavinaw, OK 74366. 

Those with Cherokee ancestry will be interested in this book which combines names of Cherokees on the Drennen Roll with 
those from the Guion Miller applications. The Drennen Roll, drawn up in 1851, lists Cherokees who were forced to remove 
from the Cherokee Nation East and the Old Settlers who voluntarily moved to the Cherokee Nation West before the forced 
removal. The roll was developed following the Treaty of 8 Aug 1846, under which the U.S. agreed to make a fair settlement 
of all monies due the Cherokees under the 1835 treaty. The Guion Miller applications of 1906-1910, numbering almost 
46,000, were taken from Eastern Cherokees eligible to share in a million dollars appropriated by Congress in 1906 to settle 
claims. When Drennen Roll was taken, most Cherokees did not have a white name, and many did not have a last name. 
White names were assigned during the Civil War or when a census-taker decided a white name was needed. The author has 
placed an asterisk beside the name of those in the Drennen Roll who also are in the Guion Miller applications. Many had 
name changes. Whenever possible, the book also indicates how the Guion Miller applicant was related to the Drennen Roll 
family. The lists cover (1) the Tahlequah District, which basically was the area now occupied by Cherokee Co., OMa., and 
includes the towns of Tahlequah, Fort Gibson, Park Hill, Sequoyah, and Lost City; and (2) Skin Bayou District, which was 
located in Sequoyah Co., Okla., and today includes the towns of Sallisaw, Muldrow, Roland, and Brushy. 
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Book Rev ews (continued) 

by Robert W. Marlin. 1996. 
5%x8'/2" sofcover, 232 pp. including index, selected bibliography, appendix. $14.95plus $3 for priority shipping from Land 
Yacht Press, P. 0. Box 21 0262, Nashville, TN 3 7221 -0262, phone 1-61 5-646-21 86. Tennessee residents add 6.25% sales tax. 

On his mother's 70th birthday, the author suddenly realized that he had no idea of who his own grandparents were. That 
realization changed his life forever, he says, and launched him on an extensive and successful search in which he identified 
all four of his grandparents, all eight of his great-grandparents, and seven of his 16 great-great grandparents. In the process, 
he not only learned the basics of genealogical research but developed numerous shortcuts and innovative approaches. For 
instance, he developed his own method for searching the federal census without Soundex. His system requires the exact street 
address of the person being sought and the use of streets bordering that address. The method worked for him even in a 
formidable place like New York City, but he says it can be used anywhere. The book is full of such research tips, and these -- 
combined with essential information on obtaining and understanding primary records -- make it perfect for the beginning or 
intermediate genealogist. It's also highly readable and enjoyable. 

by Betty C. Wiltshire. 1996. 5%x8%" softcover, 306pp., with 
full-name index, and slave index. $28 postpaid from Pioneer Publishing Co., P.O. Box 408, Carrollton, MS 3891 7. 

This compilation of Marshall Co., Mss., covers probate records from 1836 (the year the county was formed) through 1862 
and includes wills for the same period. When a person died, whether leaving a will or not, his or her estate had to be settled 
among the heirs. The probate records thus created generally give the name of the deceased , the heirs, their relationship to the 
deceased, and their places of residence. They also contain records of guardianships of minor children, widow's dowers, and 
inventory records which include the ownership of slaves, frequently giving their names and occasionally their ages and 
relationships. The records in this book will be especially useful to researchers seeking slave ancestors in Marshall County. 

by Thelma Allen. 5% 'kg" softcover, 224 pp., index. $13.75 postpaid 
from Michael Allen, P. 0. Box 11 151 0, Nashville, TN 3 72222. 

Reminiscings and recipes seem to go together in today's cookbook world, and this Texas-born Oklahoman manages to work 
memories of the pre-Depression and World War I1 eras into a collection of more than 250 recipes. In Depression days, she 
said tons of pinto beans were served without knowing of their nutritive value. She recalls that her family cooked the beans in 
rain caught in a washtub because this made them so much softer. Demonstrating how homemakers coped with wartime 
shortages, she includes a recipe for sugarless brownies. Also given are instructions for making lye soap, cracklin' bread, hog 
head cheese, scrapple, and other near-lost arts. The portion of the book devoted to memories also is available on cassette. 
This is the second cookbook published by Mrs. Allen, who is now over 81 and exhibits crafts in Oklahoma and Tennessee. 
Her first book went into three printings. 

ompiled by Mary Ann Needham HolliJeld. 1996. 8% "1 1 " 
softcover, I,050pp., full name index. $51.70postpaidfrom author at 1345 New Garden Rd., Greensboro, NC 27410. 

For Hutchinson, Abemathy, SchadeIShade, and Needham descendants, this book may contain all you ever wanted to know 
about your ancestors .... or, like all good family histories, may whet your appetite for even more. Replete with family charts, 
maps, copies of documents, photographs, family stories, and newspaper clippings, it tells the history of the four families in 
the author's paternal line ... and how they all pioneered their way into Clermont County, Ohio. The story begins with one 
William Hutchinson and wife AM VaunNonn or Simpson in what is now Mercer Co., N. J., in 1740. Their grandson, Rev. 
Ezekiel Hutchlnson, migrated to Ohio in 1804, and settled in Clermont County two years later. The author relates how she 
literally backtracked the Abemathy family -- who were in Clermont by 1850 -- down Route 50, from Clermont, over the 
mountains into Virginia and back to Pennsylvania. (She also tells of finding much sought after information in Ansearchin' 
News about one William Simpson Abernathy and his wife Mary Childress Bradley.) The She traces the Needhams back 
through Pennsylvania's Red Stone Country to England, and the SchadeIShade line to Delaware and Pennsylvania. Concluding 
the history is a fascinating article by the author entitled "Reminiscing and Wisdom Bits" in which she recalls her own 
childhood. In the modern idiom, "it's a good read" even if you can't claim kin. Bl 
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34 
Land in Giles County On Block 
For Unpaid 1 8 13 Property Taxes 
(From the Nashville Clarion & State Gazette, 2 August 1814) 

GILES COUNTY COURT - MARCH SESSION 1814 

James Buford, Esq., sheriff and collector of the public and 
county tax for the year 18 13, reports to this court that taxes 
remain due and unpaid for the following tracts of land for 
1813 and he cannot find in his county any goods and 
chattels belonging to the owners thereof whereon he can 

r-the same, to-wit: 

Re~uted Owner 

John Baldridge 
John Childress 
John Childress 
Francis Childs 
Joseph East 
Wchard Hightour 
Wchard Hightour 
Hightour & PIayvood 
Robert Lanier 
Robert Lanier 
Hightour & Haywood 
James Lewis 

William B. Lewis 
James Morrison 

John M'Donald 
J. C. & D.W. M'Ree 
Estate of H. Murphey 
Estate of H. Murphey 
William Neal 
Isaac Price 
Creek 
Jacob Perkins 
Thomas Whitson 
James Temple 
James Temple 
James Temple 
James Temple 
James Read, Jr. 

Edward Thursby 

Situation 

Elk River 
Richland Creek 
Elk hver 
Richland (Warrant #695) 

Pigeon Roost Creek 
Richland 
Bradshaw's Creek 
Robertson's Creek 
West of Elk R.(~rant 1995) 

Elk River 
Richland Creek 
Saved out of a 2000-acre 

entry 
South side of Elk hver 
Entry waters Buchanan's 

Creek 
Buchanan's Creek 
Robertson Creek 
(no location given) 
(no location given) 
Richland Creek 
Mouth of Richland 

Richland Creek 
Elk River 
Elk River 
Reynold's Creek 
Reynold's Creek 
Sinking Creek 
Richland 1 white poll 

and 1 black 
Part of an old grant to 

S. Donaldson 
John Wilson 5,000 Blue Creek 

It is therefore ordered that judgment be entered up against 
the owners of said tracts ... and that said tracts (or as much 
of as will be sufficient to satisfy the taxes, costs, and charges 
due) be sold at the courthouse in Pulaski on the first Monday 
in November next. 

(Signed) Gorman Lester, Court Clerk 

Obituaries 

DIED - On Saturday evening last, Mrs. 
Marcia k= M'Lean, consort of Mr. 
Charles D. M'Lean, senior editor of the 
Nashville Whig. She had not numbered 19 
years; was a few days since in health, 
blooming as a rose, had every flattering 
prospect of enjoying many years of felicity 
with an affectionate husband, lisping little 
ones, a tender mother, and a numerous 
circle of acquaintances - but all human 
calculations are vain. Mrs. M'Lean was a 
dutiful child, agreeable companion, af- 
fectionate wife, and kind mistress. It is 
only a few months since she attended the 
remains of her father, Judge Searcy (of 
whom she was the only child) to the silent 
grave, and now, she is a tenant of the 
Same IlUIl~ioIl. - The Clarion and State Gazene, 

Nashville, 14 Oct 181 4 .  

DIED in Columbia on the 7th of June, 
Mrs. Jemima Saunderson in the 98th 
year of her age. Some 48 years ago, she 
removed from Cumberland Co., Va., to 
Middle Tennessee and resided during the 
greater part of this time in the immediate 
neighborhood. - The Maury Intelligencer, 
Columbia, Tenn., 21 June 1849. 

DED at Matanzas in the Island of Cuba, 
Mrs. Mary M. H. Bell, wife of Mr. 
James Bell of this city and daughter of 
David Dickinson, Esq,, of this neigh- 
borhood, a lady greatly beloved and 
respected by an extensive circle of friends 
and acquaintances for her many amiable 
virtues. - The Union, Nashville, Tenn., 8 May 
1835 

DEPARTED this life on Sunday evening 
the 20th of March Mr. Thomas Wilco~,  
minister of the Gospel. His death was 
occa-sioned by a pleurisy which ter- 
minated his existence in 11 days. He en- 
dured his sickness with the greatest 
resignation and patience. - Nashville Clarion. 
29Mar 1814 
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